Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: February 10, 2022 ACCEPTED: March 14, 2022 PUBLISHED: March 29, 2022

# Modelling vector-like quarks in partial compositeness framework

## Avik Banerjee, Diogo Buarque Franzosi and Gabriele Ferretti

Department of Physics, Chalmers University of Technology, Fysikgården, 41296 Göteborg, Sweden E-mail: avik@chalmers.se, diogo.buarque.franzosi@gmail.com, ferretti@chalmers.se

ABSTRACT: Composite Higgs models, together with partial compositeness, predict the existence of new scalars and vector-like quarks (partners) at and above the TeV scale. Generically, the presence of these additional scalars opens up new decay topologies for the partners. In this paper we show how to systematically construct the general low energy Lagrangian to capture this feature. We emphasize the specific pattern in the top-partner spectrum arising in this class of models. We then present a concrete realization in the context of the SU(5)/SO(5) coset. We show that the top-partners in this model can have significant branching ratios to the additional scalars and a third generation quark, compared to the usual Standard Model channels. Amongst the most promising signatures at the LHC are final states containing a diphoton resonance along with a top quark.

KEYWORDS: Compositeness, Vector-Like Fermions, Multi-Higgs Models

ARXIV EPRINT: 2202.00037



# Contents

1	Introduction	1		
<b>2</b>	2 IR Lagrangian			
	2.1 The pNGB kinetic term	3		
	2.2 The anomalous terms	4		
	2.3 The Lagrangian for vector-like quarks	5		
	2.4 The partial compositeness Lagrangian	6		
	2.5 The scalar potential	8		
3	Spectrum of the fermionic partners	8		
	3.1 One loop self energy	10		
4	Phenomenology of top-partners: an explicit example	12		
	4.1 Decay of nearly degenerate top-partners	14		
	4.2 Decay of pNGBs	16		
<b>5</b>	Conclusions	18		
$\mathbf{A}$	Building blocks for the IR theory	19		
	A.1 pNGBs	19		
	A.2 Fermionic partners	20		
	A.3 Spurions	22		
в	The Lagrangian of the model in section 4	24		
С	Branching ratios involving degenerate states	27		

# 1 Introduction

The composite Higgs model with partial compositeness (PC) is amongst the few mechanisms available for a symmetry-based explanation of the Electroweak (EW) hierarchy problem in the Standard Model (SM). It realizes the Higgs boson as a pseudo-Nambu-Goldstone boson (pNGB) arising from the breaking of a global symmetry [1] and uses linear couplings between some SM fermions and composite fermions to generate their masses [2] and to give the Higgs boson a vacuum expectation value (vev) [3–5].

If one concentrates on the class of models arising from four-dimensional gauge theories with fermionic matter [6, 7] (hyperfermions), one is led to three minimal types of symmetry breaking:  $\mathcal{G}/\mathcal{H} = \mathrm{SU}(5)/\mathrm{SO}(5)$  [8–11],  $\mathrm{SU}(4)/\mathrm{Sp}(4)$  [6, 7, 9, 12–14],  $\mathrm{SU}(4)_{\mathrm{l}} \times \mathrm{SU}(4)_{\mathrm{r}}/\mathrm{SU}(4)_{\mathrm{d}}$  [10, 15]. We shall refer to these three cosets as the *real*, *pseudoreal* and complex case since they arise for hyperfermions in a real, pseudoreal and complex representation of the hypercolor gauge group  $G_{\rm HC}$  [16, 17]. The minimal dimension for the cosets is given by the requirement that it should be possible to obtain the Higgs field as a bidoublet  $H \in (2, 2)$  of  $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \subset \mathcal{H}$  [18]. Note that the minimal composite Higgs model SO(5)/SO(4) [4, 5, 19–36] does not belong to this class, but the next-to-minimal one SO(6)/SO(5)  $\equiv$  SU(4)/Sp(4) [37–54] does. The low energy theory at the multi-TeV scale comprises the  $G_{\rm HC}$  invariant bound states of these hyperfermions with different spins and SM quantum numbers. Bilinears of the hyperfermions lead to pNGB scalars and spin-1 vector resonances in the infrared (IR), while trilinears give rise to vector-like fermionic bound states (commonly called vector-like quarks or fermionic partners).

We first present the structure of the IR lagrangian describing the interactions of the third family of quarks and the SM gauge bosons with the fermionic partners and pNGBs of the strongly coupled sector. This is needed since the spectra and the couplings of these theories are highly non-generic, and thus simplified models may miss interesting signatures for searches or falsely point to some that cannot be realized in the full theory. Also, tools are being developed to automatize the simulation of general models of PC, with future hadron colliders in mind. Extending the field content without guidance from symmetry principles leads to many undetermined parameters. However, once the symmetries of the underlying theory are employed, the number of these parameters is greatly reduced.

We use the PC paradigm to construct the low energy Lagrangian of the composite sector and present it for the relevant cosets. We further chalk out the steps to extract the interactions of the elementary fields with the composite ones, and provide details in the appendix. The mass spectrum of the fermionic partners in the PC framework has some specific patterns, independent of the choice of coset. In particular, a group of nearly degenerate fermionic bound states is expected in this class of models.

We then consider a specific realization of the real (SU(5)/SO(5)) case and survey its experimental signatures. The choice of focusing on this coset is partly motivated by the recent interest in searching for exotic signatures of top-partner decays  $t' \rightarrow t (S \rightarrow \gamma \gamma)$ in the notation of [55], (see also [56]), which are more easily realized in this coset. It follows that the branching ratios to the SM final states such as th, tZ and bW are reduced compared to those into pNGBs and third generation quarks. In particular, we analyze a specific scenario where the pair production of top-partners, with one of them decaying into a  $t\gamma\gamma$  final state, has a cross section of the order of a few femtobarn.

Our focus is on the production and decay of composite fermions and EW pNGBs, but it should be noticed that the bound states arising from underlying theories of this kind include additional types of composite particles. Some of these additional particles have been studied elsewhere: colored pNGBs [57, 58], fermions in non-triplet irreps of color [59], vector resonances [60–64], and axion-like particles [65, 66]. One can also envisage a variety of additional decay channels of the fermionic partners as discussed in [67–69], see also [70–73].

The paper is structured as follows. Sections 2 and 3 together with appendix A present the general construction of the models while section 4 together with appendices B and C deals with the specific SU(5)/SO(5) coset and its diphoton signal. We offer our conclusions in section 5.

#### 2 IR Lagrangian

The purpose of this section is to present the various components of the IR Lagrangian describing the interactions of the composite sector with the SM vector bosons and the quarks of the third generation. At this stage we keep the presentation general, including all the minimal cosets arising in these underlying models, while the main interest of the later phenomenological section (section 4 and appendix B) is in the SU(5)/SO(5) coset.

We split the Lagrangian into several parts for ease of discussion

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{elem} + \mathcal{L}_{comp}, \quad \text{with} \quad \mathcal{L}_{comp} = \mathcal{L}_{pNGB} + \mathcal{L}_{anom} + \mathcal{L}_{\Psi^2} + \mathcal{L}_{PC} - V_{pot}.$$
(2.1)

The elementary Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}_{elem}$  for the third generation quarks and vector bosons is identical to the SM Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{elem}} = \bar{q}_L i \not\!\!\!D q_L + \bar{t}_R i \not\!\!\!D t_R + \bar{b}_R i \not\!\!\!D b_R - \frac{1}{4} G^a_{\mu\nu} G^{a\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} W^a_{\mu\nu} W^{a\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4} B_{\mu\nu} B^{\mu\nu} \,.$$
(2.2)

In what follows we discuss each part of the composite Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}_{comp}$ . More details are given in appendix A. In this work, for simplicity we assume CP invariance and all couplings to be real.

## 2.1 The pNGB kinetic term

The canonically normalized electroweak pNGBs  $\Pi = \pi_i \hat{T}^i$  can be written in terms of the broken generators  $\hat{T}^i$  as a matrix  $\Sigma \equiv \Omega(\theta) \exp(i\beta \Pi/f)$  transforming non linearly [74, 75] under a global transformation  $g \in \mathcal{G}$  as  $\Sigma \to g\Sigma h^{-1}(\Pi, g)$  where  $h(\Pi, g) \in \mathcal{H}$ . Here  $f \sim \text{TeV}$  represents the pNGB decay constant, and following the conventions in [10]  $\beta = 1, \sqrt{2}, \sqrt{2}$  for the real, pseudoreal and complex case respectively.

The explicit pNGB content are given in appendix A.1 for the three cosets under consideration. Throughout this paper we assume that the vacuum misalignment, leading to EW symmetry breaking (EWSB), is caused by a nonzero vev of the Higgs doublet alone, while other pNGB scalars do not receive any vevs. The true vacuum after EWSB can be obtained by exponentiating the Higgs vev and is denoted by a matrix  $\Omega(\theta)$  as in [10] where the angle  $\theta$  parameterizes the misalignment of the vacuum.

For the real and pseudoreal cases one can also construct a matrix  $U \equiv \Sigma \epsilon \Sigma^T$  which transforms as  $U \to gUg^T$ . Here  $\epsilon$  represents a symmetric (antisymmetric)  $\mathcal{H}$  invariant tensor  $h\epsilon h^T = \epsilon$  for the real (pseudoreal) case respectively. For the complex case it is more convenient to split the elements of  $SU(4)_l \times SU(4)_r$  as  $g = (g_l, g_r)$ , let  $\Sigma_l \to g_l \Sigma_l h^{-1}$ ,  $\Sigma_r \to g_r \Sigma_r h^{-1}$ , and define  $U = \Sigma_l \Sigma_r^{\dagger} \to g_l U g_r^{\dagger}$ , with  $h \in SU(4)_d$ . Our explicit formulas will be mostly based on the real/pseudoreal case with the modification for the complex case left understood.<sup>1</sup>

While  $\Sigma$  is required to define the interactions of the vector-like quarks with the SM fermions through PC, the self interactions and gauge interactions of the pNGBs can be expressed more conveniently using U. At  $\mathcal{O}(p^2)$ , the kinetic term of the pNGBs can be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>To avoid confusion we use the lowercase letters l, r to denote the two simple SU(4) factors of  $\mathcal{G}$  in the complex case and reserve the uppercase L, R to the SU(2) factors in  $\mathcal{H}$  and their related chiral structure.

written using the matrix U as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{pNGB}} = \frac{f^2 \beta^2}{16} \text{tr} \left[ (D_{\mu} U)^{\dagger} (D^{\mu} U) \right] \,. \tag{2.3}$$

We introduce  $\beta$  in order to simultaneously canonically normalize the kinetic terms of the pNGBs and ensure that the masses of W and Z bosons can be written uniformly as

$$M_W^2 = M_Z^2 c_W^2 = \frac{g^2}{4} f^2 s_\theta^2 \,. \tag{2.4}$$

Here  $c_W \equiv \cos \theta_W$  denotes the cosine of the weak mixing angle,  $s_{\theta} \equiv \sin \theta$  and the definition of electroweak scale is fixed as  $v = fs_{\theta} = 246$  GeV. Note that the tree level relation  $\rho = 1$ is preserved since we assume that the vevs of all other non-standard pNGB scalars are zero. The interactions of the weak gauge bosons with the 125 GeV Higgs boson can thus be written as

$$\mathcal{L} = M_W^2 \left( 2c_\theta \frac{h}{v} + c_{2\theta} \frac{h^2}{v^2} + \dots \right) \left[ W_\mu^+ W^{-\mu} + \frac{1}{2c_W^2} Z_\mu Z^\mu \right] \,. \tag{2.5}$$

The hVV and hhVV couplings (V = W, Z) are modified with respect to the SM by a universal factor  $c_{\theta}$  and  $c_{2\theta}$  respectively for any compact coset [76]. The Lagrangian eq. (2.3) also describes the interactions of one or two EW gauge bosons with *pairs* of additional (non-Higgs) pNGBs, generically denoted as  $\pi$ , via the covariant derivative [10]. Note that  $\pi VV$  terms are absent because of the absence of a vev for  $\pi$ .

## 2.2 The anomalous terms

In the absence of a vev for  $\pi$ , the interactions of a single pNGB with the gauge bosons are given by the hyperquark anomaly, described by a Wess-Zumino-Witten term (WZW). The WZW terms involving one pNGB and two gauge bosons can be written in a coset independent way in terms of differential forms as [77, 78]

$$S_{\rm WZW} \supset \frac{i \dim(\psi)}{48\pi^2} \int \operatorname{tr} \left( dAAdUU^{\dagger} + AdAdUU^{\dagger} + dA'A'U^{\dagger}dU + A'dA'U^{\dagger}dU - dAdUA'U^{\dagger} + dA'dU^{\dagger}AU \right),$$
(2.6)

where dim( $\psi$ ) is the dimension of the hypercolor irrep of the hyperfermion  $\psi$  giving rise to the EW coset, and A denotes the Lie algebra valued one form  $A \equiv (gW^a_\mu T^a_L + g'B_\mu T^3_R)dx^\mu$ . For the SU(4)/Sp(4) and SU(5)/SO(5) [10] cosets  $A' = -A^T$  while for the SU(4)<sub>1</sub> × SU(4)<sub>r</sub>/SU(4)<sub>d</sub> [15] case A' = A. After integrating by parts and expanding to leading order in the pNGBs the anomaly Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}_{anom}$  can be written in terms of the physical gauge fields as

$$\mathcal{L}_{anom} = \frac{e^2 \dim(\psi)}{48\pi^2 f} \Biggl[ \sum_i \pi_i^0 \left( K_{\gamma\gamma}^i F_{\mu\nu} \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu} + K_{\gamma Z}^i F_{\mu\nu} \tilde{Z}^{\mu\nu} + K_{ZZ}^i Z_{\mu\nu} \tilde{Z}^{\mu\nu} + K_{WW}^i W_{\mu\nu}^+ \tilde{W}^{-\mu\nu} \right) + \sum_j \pi_j^+ \left( K_{\gamma W}^j F_{\mu\nu} \tilde{W}^{-\mu\nu} + K_{ZW}^j Z_{\mu\nu} \tilde{W}^{-\mu\nu} \right) + \text{h.c.} + \sum_k \pi_k^{++} K_{W^-W^-}^k \tilde{W}^{-\mu\nu} + \text{h.c.} \Biggr].$$
(2.7)

Coset	$\pi_i$	$K^i_{\gamma\gamma}$	$K^i_{\gamma Z}$	$K^i_{ZZ}$	$K^i_{WW}$	$K^i_{\gamma W}$	$K^i_{ZW}$	$K^i_{W^-W^-}$
$\frac{\mathrm{SU}(4)}{\mathrm{Sp}(4)}$	η	0	$\frac{3c_{\theta}}{s_W c_W}$	$\frac{3c_{2W}c_{\theta}}{2s_W^2c_W^2}$	$\frac{3c_{\theta}}{s_W^2}$	_		
	$\chi_5^0$	$-2\sqrt{3}$	$-\tfrac{4\sqrt{3}c_{2W}}{s_{2W}}$	$\frac{(1 - 3c_{4W} + 2c_{2\theta})}{\sqrt{3}s_{2W}^2}$	$\frac{s_{\theta}^2}{\sqrt{3}s_W^2}$			
	$\chi_1^0$	$\sqrt{6}$	$\frac{2\sqrt{6}c_{2W}}{s_{2W}}$	$\frac{(1+6c_{4W}-7c_{2\theta})}{2\sqrt{6}s_{2W}^2}$	$\frac{7}{2\sqrt{6}}\frac{s_\theta^2}{s_W^2}$			
	$\eta$	$3\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}}$	$\sqrt{\frac{2}{5}} \frac{6c_{2W}}{s_{2W}}$	$\frac{3(3c_{\theta}^2 + c_{4W})}{4\sqrt{10}c_W^2 s_W^2}$	$\tfrac{3(3c_{2\theta}+5)}{4\sqrt{10}s_W^2}$			
$\frac{\mathrm{SU}(5)}{\mathrm{SO}(5)}$	$\chi_3^+$			—		$-rac{3c_{ heta}}{s_W}$	$rac{3c_{ heta}}{c_W}$	
( )	$\chi_5^+$			—		$rac{3i}{s_W}$	$\tfrac{i(3c_{2W}-c_{2\theta}-2)}{2c_W s_W^2}$	
	$\chi_5^{++}$			—			—	$-\frac{s_{\theta}^2}{\sqrt{2}s_W^2}$
$\frac{\mathrm{SU}(4)_l \times \mathrm{SU}(4)_r}{\mathrm{SU}(4)_d}$	η	0	$rac{3c_{ heta}}{s_W c_W}$	$\frac{3c_{2W}c_{\theta}}{2s_W^2c_W^2}$	$rac{3c_{ heta}}{s_W^2}$			

**Table 1**. Coefficients of the anomaly terms in eq. (2.7) uniformly normalized by a factor  $\frac{e^2 \dim(\psi)}{48\pi^2 f}$ . Here  $\eta$  always denotes a SM singlet while the remaining coefficients are expressed in the custodial basis but otherwise agree with those in [10]. The pNGBs not appearing in the table do not couple to the anomaly terms.

Here  $\pi_i^0$ ,  $\pi_j^{\pm}$  and  $\pi_k^{\pm\pm}$  represent any pNGBs for a generic coset with electric charge  $Q = 0, \pm 1$ and  $\pm 2$ , respectively. In table 1 we list the coefficients of the  $\mathcal{L}_{anom}$  for different pNGBS in the custodial basis for the three minimal cosets (see appendix A.1 for notations). Note that for the SU(4)<sub>1</sub> × SU(4)<sub>r</sub>/SU(4)<sub>d</sub> coset only  $\eta$  couples to the anomaly term and for both SU(4)/Sp(4) as well as SU(4)<sub>1</sub> × SU(4)<sub>r</sub>/SU(4)<sub>d</sub> cosets  $K_{\gamma\gamma}^i = 0$ , as already pointed out in [15]. Also, for the real case  $\chi_3^0$  does not appear in  $\mathcal{L}_{anom}$ .

## 2.3 The Lagrangian for vector-like quarks

Vector-like fermionic partners ( $\Psi$ ) are built out of  $G_{\text{HC}}$ -invariant trilinears involving two types of hyperfermions  $\psi$  and  $\chi$ . The SU(3)<sub>c</sub> quantum number of the partner is carried by the  $\chi$ -type hyperfermions, which are however not charged under  $\mathcal{G}$ . On the other hand,  $\psi$  transforms as a fundamental (F) of  $\mathcal{G}$ .<sup>2</sup> The trilinear composite operators can thus be divided into two major categories of the type  $\chi \psi \chi$  (one-index irrep of  $\mathcal{G}$ ) and  $\psi \chi \psi$ (two-index irrep of  $\mathcal{G}$ ) respectively.

Below the  $\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{H}$  symmetry breaking scale the irreps of  $\mathcal{G}$  should be decomposed under the unbroken global  $\mathcal{H}$ . This implies that  $\chi \psi \chi$ -type partners transform as the irreps in the decomposition of F of  $\mathcal{G}$  on restriction to  $\mathcal{H}$ , while the  $\psi \chi \psi$ -type partners belong to the irreps in the decomposition of  $F \times F$ . Thus, in matrix notation, the top-partners transform

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>We use N, F, A, S, D to represent the siNglet, Fundamental, Antisymmetric, Symmetric, and aDjoint irreps of both  $\mathcal{G}$  and  $\mathcal{H}$ , which one is being used should be evident from the context. For complex coset the  $\psi$  transforms as  $(F, 1) + (1, \overline{F})$ . In order to simplify the discussion we will often refer to both F and  $\overline{F}$  as "fundamental" in the text.

as  $\Psi_F \to h\Psi_F$  (for fundamental of  $\mathcal{H}$ ),  $\Psi_{S,A} \to h\Psi_{S,A}h^T$  (for symmetric or anti-symmetric of  $\mathcal{H}$ ) and  $\Psi_D \to h\Psi_D h^{\dagger}$  (for adjoint of  $\mathcal{H}$  in the complex case).

Taking into account these informations from the UV, we consider a single irrep (up to two-index) of  $\mathcal{H}$  for the fermionic partner as the relevant dynamic degree of freedom. For any coset, it is convenient to decompose  $\Psi$  in terms of  $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \subset \mathcal{H}$ . Explicit matrices for  $\Psi$  in different irreps are given in the appendix A.2 for the three minimal cosets. The Lagrangian for the fermionic partners is then given by<sup>3</sup>

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Psi^2} = \operatorname{tr}\left[\bar{\Psi}i\not\!\!\!D\Psi\right] - M\operatorname{tr}\left[\bar{\Psi}\Psi\right] + \kappa \operatorname{tr}\left[\bar{\Psi}\not\!\!\!/\Psi\right], \qquad (2.8)$$

where the covariant derivative is

$$D_{\mu}\Psi = \partial_{\mu}\Psi - iv_{\mu}\Psi - iXe\left(A_{\mu} - \frac{s_{W}}{c_{W}}Z_{\mu}\right)\Psi - ig_{s}G_{\mu}^{a}\frac{\lambda^{a}}{2}\Psi.$$
(2.9)

In the second term of the above equation  $v_{\mu}$  acts on  $\Psi$  in the appropriate representation. The third term in eq. (2.9) corresponds to the interactions along the additional factor of  $U(1)_X$  that is the minimal additional gauge degree of freedom necessary to reproduce the correct hypercharge (given by  $Y = T_R^3 + X$ ) of the SM quarks.<sup>4</sup> The matrix-valued  $d_{\mu}$  and  $v_{\mu}$  symbols can be calculated using the CCWZ formalism [74, 75] and are given by following expressions,

$$d_{\mu} = \sum_{i=1}^{\dim(\mathcal{G}/\mathcal{H})} \hat{T}^{i} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \hat{T}^{i} \Sigma^{-1} \left( i \partial_{\mu} \Sigma + e V_{\mu} \Sigma \right) \right], \quad v_{\mu} = \sum_{a=1}^{\dim(\mathcal{H})} T^{a} \operatorname{tr} \left[ T^{a} \Sigma^{-1} \left( i \partial_{\mu} \Sigma + e V_{\mu} \Sigma \right) \right], \quad (2.10)$$

where  $\hat{T}^i$  ( $T^a$ ) denotes the broken (unbroken) generators of  $\mathcal{G}$  and  $V_{\mu}$  is given by

$$V_{\mu} = \frac{W_{\mu}^{+}}{s_{W}} \frac{T_{L}^{1} + iT_{L}^{2}}{\sqrt{2}} + \frac{W_{\mu}^{-}}{s_{W}} \frac{T_{L}^{1} - iT_{L}^{2}}{\sqrt{2}} + \left(A_{\mu} + \frac{c_{W}}{s_{W}}Z_{\mu}\right) T_{L}^{3} + \left(A_{\mu} - \frac{s_{W}}{c_{W}}Z_{\mu}\right) T_{R}^{3}.$$
 (2.11)

The term proportional to  $\kappa$  in eq. (2.8) leads to the derivative interactions of the partners with the pNGB fields and belongs exclusively to the strong sector.

#### 2.4 The partial compositeness Lagrangian

The PC mechanism relies on the linear mixing between the top quark and the top-partner which explicitly breaks the global symmetry of the strong sector. In order to parameterize this explicit breaking by coupling the SM third generation quarks to the top-partners and the pNGBs, we use spurionic embeddings of the SM fermions into the irreps of  $\mathcal{G}$ .

For the real and pseudoreal cases we consider spurions which transform as N, F, A, S, and D of  $\mathcal{G}$  (for the explanation of the notation, see section 2.3). For the complex case the spurions are classified according to the representations  $(\rho_l, \rho_r)$  where  $\rho_{l,r} = N, F \dots D$ , with the additional possibility of a Bifundamental B, but the idea behind the construction is the same. (See [10, 45] for more details.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For the one-index irreps the trace should be interpreted as the usual invariant product.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Note that the pNGBs are uncharged under the  $U(1)_X$ .

Spurions	$\Psi_N$	$\Psi_F$	$\Psi_A$	$\Psi_S$
N	$\Psi_N$	×	0	0
F	×	$F^{\dagger} \Sigma \Psi_F$	×	×
A	$\mathrm{tr}\left[A^{\dagger}\Sigma\epsilon\Sigma^{T}\right]\Psi_{N}$	×	$\mathrm{tr}\left[A^{\dagger}\Sigma\Psi_{A}\Sigma^{T}\right]$	0
S	$\mathrm{tr}\left[S^{\dagger}\Sigma\epsilon\Sigma^{T}\right]\Psi_{N}$	×	0	$\mathrm{tr}\left[S^{\dagger}\Sigma\Psi_{S}\Sigma^{T}\right]$
D	0	×	$\mathrm{tr}\left[D^{\dagger}\Sigma\Psi_{A}\epsilon\Sigma^{\dagger}\right]$	$\mathrm{tr}\left[D^{\dagger}\Sigma\Psi_{S}\epsilon\Sigma^{\dagger}\right]$

**Table 2.** Formally  $\mathcal{G}$  invariant operators at leading order giving rise to PC of the SM quarks. The  $\times$  symbol implies no possible invariant can be constructed while the zeros denote that the operators vanish identically due to symmetry properties of the spurions and the irreps of the fermionic partners. For the real (pseudoreal) case the expression tr  $[A^{\dagger}\Sigma\epsilon\Sigma^{T}]$ , (tr  $[S^{\dagger}\Sigma\epsilon\Sigma^{T}]$ ) vanishes, since  $\epsilon$  is symmetric (antisymmetric).

The transformation properties of the spurions under a global  $g \in \mathcal{G}$  are given, in matrix notation, by

$$N \to N$$
,  $F \to gF$ ,  $A \to gAg^T$ ,  $S \to gSg^T$ ,  $D \to gDg^{\dagger}$ . (2.12)

The left-handed quark doublet  $(q_L)$  should be embedded into a  $(\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{2})_{2/3}$  of  $\mathrm{SU}(2)_L \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_R \times \mathrm{U}(1)_X$ , while for the right-handed top  $(t_R)$  either a  $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1})_{2/3}$ , or the  $T_R^3 = 0$  component of a  $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3})_{2/3}$  can be used. The embedding of  $q_L$  in  $(\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{2})$  ensures that the corrections to the  $Z \to b_L \overline{b}_L$  decay width is under control due to the custodial protection [79]. The explicit embedding matrices for the pseudoreal, real and complex cases are given in appendix A.3.

The structure of the formally  $\mathcal{G}$  invariant PC Lagrangian is given as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm PC} = y_L f \bar{\hat{q}}_L \mathcal{O}_R + y_R f \bar{\hat{t}}_R \mathcal{O}_L + \text{h.c.}$$
(2.13)

Here  $\hat{q}_L$  and  $\hat{t}_R$  denote the embedding of the elementary quarks into the incomplete  $\mathcal{G}$  multiplets above. For example, if both  $q_L$  and  $t_R$  are embedded in the adjoint irrep of  $\mathcal{G}$ , we can write  $\hat{q}_L = t_L D_{t_L} + b_L D_{b_L}$  and  $\hat{t}_R = t_R D_{t_R}$ . To construct the invariant operators  $\mathcal{O}_{L,R}$ , the partner  $\Psi$  is dressed with appropriate insertions of the pNGB matrix  $\Sigma$ . In table 2 we present the leading order invariant terms of eq. (2.13) for the real and pseudoreal case. The construction is the same in the real and pseudoreal case if one uses the appropriate invariant terms  $\epsilon$  (symmetric or anti-symmetric).

For the complex case one simply needs to keep track of the difference between the left and right factors of  $\mathcal{G}$ . For instance, one can have the following two invariants with antisymmetric tensors: tr  $\left[A_r^{\dagger}\Sigma_r\Psi_A\Sigma_r^T\right]$  and tr  $\left[A_l^{\dagger}\Sigma_l\Psi_A\Sigma_l^T\right]$  where  $A_l \to g_lA_lg_l^T$  or  $A_r \to g_rA_rg_r^T$ and similarly for the adjoint and symmetric. In the complex case one can also use the bifundamental  $B \to g_lBg_r^T$  and similar for various combinations of fundamentals and anti-fundamentals e.g.  $B' \to g_lB'g_r^{\dagger}$ . Here the invariants are simply tr  $\left[B^{\dagger}\Sigma_l\Psi_A\Sigma_r^T\right]$  or tr  $\left[B^{\dagger}\Sigma_l\Psi_S\Sigma_r^T\right]$  in the first case and tr  $\left[B'^{\dagger}\Sigma_l\Psi_N\Sigma_r^{\dagger}\right]$  or tr  $\left[B'^{\dagger}\Sigma_l\Psi_D\Sigma_r^{\dagger}\right]$  in the second case.

#### 2.5 The scalar potential

We have now come to the last term in eq. (2.1), namely the scalar potential. This term is the most model dependent and prone to computational difficulties since it is fully generated by the terms explicitly breaking the global symmetry  $\mathcal{H}$ . The contributions of the symmetry breaking interactions to the potential can be split as

$$V_{\rm pot} = V_m + V_g + V_t \,,$$
 (2.14)

where  $V_m$  denotes the contribution from the bare hyperfermion mass term which can be written as<sup>5</sup>

$$V_m = B_m f^4 \text{tr} \left[ \epsilon^* U + \epsilon U^* \right] + B'_m f^4 \text{tr} \left[ (\epsilon^* U)^2 + (\epsilon U^*)^2 \right] .$$
 (2.15)

The coefficients  $B_m, B'_m$  are dimensionless low energy parameter encoding the strong dynamics. We have included a  $B'_m$  contribution, in the same spirit as [80–82]. Although f should be thought of as an inverse coupling and inserted according to the rules of naive dimensional analysis, we chose to use it as the only dimensionful quantity for convenience, hence the unusual f dependence.

Similarly one-loop contributions from the gauge bosons  $V_q$  are given by

$$V_g = B_g f^4 \text{tr} \left[ g^2 T_L^a U T_L^{a*} U^{\dagger} + g'^2 T_R^3 U T_R^{3*} U^{\dagger} \right] , \qquad (2.16)$$

for the real and pseudoreal cases, while for the complex case both  $T_L^{a*}$  and  $T_R^{3*}$  should be replaced by  $-T_L^a$  and  $-T_R^3$ , respectively.

The top quark contribution to the potential  $V_t$  depends on the specific spurionic representations in which  $q_L$  and  $t_R$  are embedded. Generically, the lowest order invariants are formed using the spurions in the various representations and are given by terms like

$$(F^{\dagger}UF^{*})(F^{T}U^{*}F), \text{ tr}(AU^{*})\text{tr}(A^{*}U), \text{ tr}(SU^{*})\text{tr}(S^{*}U), \text{ and } \text{ tr}(DUD^{*}U^{*}), (2.17)$$

for the real and pseudoreal case, and similarly for the complex case. Note that the antisymmetric spurion does not contribute to the potential in the real case and the symmetric one does not contribute in the pseudoreal case. Also, none of the irreps  $(\mathbf{1}, \rho)$  or  $(\rho, \mathbf{1})$  contribute in the complex case.

Writing the full potential as in eq. (2.14) one proceeds first by selecting those spurions that guarantee the absence of tadpoles for the non-Higgs pNGBs. For these selected representations one then fixes two linear combinations of the low energy coefficients B by imposing the correct Higgs mass and vev. The remaining coefficients are then varied in the stability region of the potential to read off the spectrum of pNGBs. Detailed discussions about the scalar potential for the various cosets can be found in [10, 11, 15, 37].

## **3** Spectrum of the fermionic partners

Having constructed the full Lagrangian in section 2, we can now study the generic properties of the fermionic spectrum arising in these models. Here we discuss the classical mass matrices

 $<sup>^5 \</sup>mathrm{This}$  is not the most general expression. Any matrix preserving custodial symmetry can be used in place of  $\epsilon.$ 

arising from combining the Dirac mass in eq. (2.8) and the contribution of eq. (2.13) after EWSB. The only partners involved in the quadratic part of eq. (2.13) are those with the same quantum number as the top or bottom quarks; the other exotic partners are unaffected by PC and remain degenerate with tree level mass set by M in eq. (2.8). We thus focus our attention on these two sectors. The generic structure of their mass matrix is that of a  $n \times n$  matrix

$$\mathcal{M}_{2/3} = \left(\frac{0 \left|\omega_L^t(\theta)^T\right|}{\omega_R^t(\theta) \left|M\mathbb{1}_{n-1}\right|}\right), \quad \mathcal{M}_{-1/3} = \left(\frac{0 \left|\omega_L^b(\theta)^T\right|}{\omega_R^b(\theta) \left|M\mathbb{1}_{n-1}\right|}\right), \tag{3.1}$$

where  $\omega_{L,R}^{t,b}(\theta)$  denote (n-1) dimensional vectors capturing the mixing between the elementary and composite fermions in eq. (2.13). In the case where a  $b_R$  partner is absent, we have  $\omega_R^b(\theta) = 0$  and the bottom quark cannot acquire a mass this way. In this case one needs to resort to the usual bilinear couplings to give a mass to the bottom quark, expressed by replacing the upper left zero-entry of  $\mathcal{M}_{-1/3}$  by a non-zero parameter. The elements of  $\omega_{L,R}^{t,b}(\theta)$  are proportional to  $y_{L,R}f$  and trigonometric functions of  $\theta$ .

Singular value decomposition of  $\mathcal{M}_{2/3}$ . Singular value decomposition of  $\mathcal{M}_{2/3}$  can be done numerically or perturbatively by expanding in powers of  $\theta$ . The physically relevant cases yield masses for the top quark of either of the following types

$$m_t \propto \begin{cases} \frac{f^2 M y_L y_R \theta}{\sqrt{M^2 + y_L^2 f^2} \sqrt{M^2 + y_R^2 f^2}}, & \text{Type I,} \\ \frac{f^2 y_L y_R \theta}{\sqrt{M^2 + y_{L,R}^2 f^2}}, & \text{Type II.} \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

In some cases, such as when both  $|\omega_L^t(\theta)|$  and  $|\omega_R^t(\theta)| \sim \mathcal{O}(\theta)$ , the top quark mass is  $\mathcal{O}(\theta^2)$ and must be discarded as it is too small. In the left panel of figure 1 we show the contours satisfying  $m_t = 173 \text{ GeV}$  in the  $y_R - y_L$  plane for different values of M/f. The solid (dashed) contours in the left panel of figure 1 represent models of Type I (II). Note that fairly large values for  $y_L$  and  $y_R$  are required to reproduce the correct top mass.

We now discuss the spectrum of the composite fermions with electric charge Q = 2/3. The generic spectrum at tree level is shown in the right panel of figure 1. The presence of the  $(n-1) \times (n-1)$  diagonal block ensures that  $\mathcal{M}_{2/3}$  has n-3 exactly degenerate states with mass M in its singular value decomposition. This can be seen by noticing that the  $\omega_{L,R}^t$  can be brought by a field redefinition to have only at most the first two components non-zero. The masses of the remaining two top-partners (recall that  $n \times n$ mass matrix is composed of top quark and n-1 top-partners) are given by  $\sqrt{M^2 + y_L^2 f^2}$ and  $\sqrt{M^2 + y_R^2 f^2}$ , for models of Type I. In case of Type II models one of the top-partners has a mass slightly heavier than M:  $\sqrt{M^2 + y_{L,R}^2 v^2}$  (note that this leads to a very small mass splitting  $\approx y_{L,R}^2 v^2/2M$ ), while the other is heavier with a mass of  $\sqrt{M^2 + y_{R,L}^2 f^2}$ .



Figure 1. Left: the  $m_t = 173$  GeV contours in the  $y_R - y_L$  plane for  $M/f = \pi$  (blue),  $2\pi$  (yellow) and  $3\pi$  (green). The solid (dashed) contours refer to the models of Type I (II), as given in eq. (3.2). Right: a representative figure depicting the generic spectrum of the vector-like quarks in models with PC. For Q = 2/3 and -1/3 the pair of dashed lines imply that either one of the lines is present in a particular model.

Singular value decomposition of  $\mathcal{M}_{-1/3}$ . In the presence of a partner for the bottom quark leading to a non-zero  $\omega_R^b(\theta)$  the singular value decomposition of  $\mathcal{M}_{-1/3}$  proceeds exactly as in the previous case. In the cases where there is no  $b_R$  partner we assume that the mass of the bottom quark can be generated by some bilinear operator. Incorporating this assumption, we get a modified  $\mathcal{M}_{-1/3}$  as

$$\mathcal{M}_{-1/3} = \left(\frac{\mu_b \theta \quad |\omega_L^b(\theta)^T}{0_{n-1\times 1} \mid M\mathbb{1}_{n-1}}\right) , \qquad (3.3)$$

where  $\mu_b$  denotes the contribution from the bilinear operator of the type  $\bar{q}_L \mathcal{O} b_R$ . The generic expression for the bottom quark mass to  $\mathcal{O}(\theta)$  can also be of two types as follows

$$m_b \propto \begin{cases} \frac{\mu_b M \theta}{\sqrt{M^2 + y_L^2 f^2}}, & \text{Type I,} \\ \mu_b \theta, & \text{Type II.} \end{cases}$$
 (3.4)

Eq. (3.3) now implies that there are n-2 degenerate states with mass equal to M. The remaining state can have a mass  $\sqrt{M^2 + y_L^2 f^2}$  for Type I, and  $\sqrt{M^2 + y_L^2 v^2}$  for Type II models.

### 3.1 One loop self energy

In this subsection we discuss the one loop self energy of the top-partners and its effect on their masses and widths. Due to the presence of explicit breaking of  $\mathcal{G}$  through gauge interactions and PC, we expect that the one loop corrections to the fermionic self energy



Figure 2. The one loop diagrams contributing to the self energy of the top-partners in terms of generic dimensionless couplings  $v, a, \hat{v}, \hat{a}$  that can be expressed in terms of  $y_L, y_R, \kappa, M$ , and f for a specific model. The expressions under the diagrams are the Feynman rules for the corresponding vertices.

lift the degeneracy in the top-partner spectrum. The relevant self energy diagrams are shown in figure 2 where  $\mathcal{T}_{i,j}$  represent the degenerate top-partners while  $\Psi_k$  denotes either a partner or a SM quark running in the loop. The contributions from the two diagrams to the self-energy are

$$-i\Sigma_{ij}^{\pi}(p) = \sum_{k,\alpha} \int_{0}^{1} dx \int \frac{d^{4}l}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{\left[ (px + M_{k})v_{ik}^{\alpha}v_{jk}^{\alpha*} + (px - M_{k})a_{ik}^{\alpha}a_{jk}^{\alpha*} + (\gamma_{5} - \text{terms}) \right]}{(l^{2} - \Delta_{\pi} + i\epsilon)^{2}}, \qquad (3.5)$$

$$-i\Sigma_{ij}^{V}(p) = \sum_{k,\alpha} \int_{0}^{1} dx \int \frac{d^{4}l}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{2\left[(px - 2M_{k})\hat{v}_{ik}^{\alpha}\hat{v}_{jk}^{\alpha*} + (px + 2M_{k})\hat{a}_{ik}^{\alpha}\hat{a}_{jk}^{\alpha*} + (\gamma_{5} - \text{terms})\right]}{(l^{2} - \Delta_{V} + i\epsilon)^{2}}, \quad (3.6)$$

where  $\Delta_{\pi,V} \equiv m_{\pi,V}^2 x + (M_k^2 - p^2 x)(1 - x)$ . The  $\gamma_5$  terms can be rotated away by a field redefinition and are ignored. The real part  $\operatorname{Re}[\Sigma(p)]$  is logarithmically divergent and contributes to the mass correction. We regularize this divergence using a UV cut-off around the compositeness scale  $\Lambda \sim 4\pi f$ , where the non-perturbative dynamics from the strongly interacting hypercolor sector kicks in. We denote the corrected central value of the mass of the semi-degenerate multiplet by  $M_{\tau}$  and the mass splitting by  $\delta M_{ij}$  as

$$M_{\mathcal{T}} = M + \frac{1}{N_{\mathcal{T}}} \operatorname{tr}(\operatorname{Re}[\Sigma(M)]), \qquad \delta M_{ij} = \operatorname{Re}[\Sigma_{ij}(M)] - \frac{1}{N_{\mathcal{T}}} \operatorname{tr}(\operatorname{Re}[\Sigma(M)])\delta_{ij}, \quad (3.7)$$

where  $N_{\mathcal{T}}$  denotes the number of degenerate states (typically  $N_{\mathcal{T}} = 2$  or 3 in these models).

Just as the mass splitting, the total decay width ( $\Gamma_{\mathcal{T}}$ ) of these states can be expressed as a hermitian matrix with non-zero off-diagonal elements using the optical theorem as  $\Gamma_{\mathcal{T}} = -2 \text{Im}[\Sigma]$ . The  $\Gamma_{\mathcal{T}}$  is the sum of the matrix valued partial decay widths for the appropriate channels as given below

$$\Gamma_{ij}(\mathcal{T} \to \Psi_k \pi^{\alpha}) = v_{ik}^{\alpha} v_{jk}^{\alpha*} \Gamma_{\pi}^+ + a_{ik}^{\alpha} a_{jk}^{\alpha*} \Gamma_{\pi}^-, \quad \Gamma_{ij}(\mathcal{T} \to \Psi_k V_{\mu}^{\alpha}) = \hat{v}_{ik}^{\alpha} \hat{v}_{jk}^{\alpha*} \Gamma_V^- + \hat{a}_{ik}^{\alpha} \hat{a}_{jk}^{\alpha*} \Gamma_V^+, \quad (3.8)$$

where  $\Gamma_{\pi}^{\pm}$  and  $\Gamma_{V}^{\pm}$  are given as

$$\Gamma_{\pi}^{\pm} = \frac{\lambda(M_{\mathcal{T}}, M_k, m_{\pi})}{16\pi M_{\mathcal{T}}} \left( 1 + \frac{M_k^2}{M_{\mathcal{T}}^2} - \frac{m_{\pi}^2}{M_{\mathcal{T}}^2} \pm 2\frac{M_k}{M_{\mathcal{T}}} \right), \tag{3.9}$$

$$\Gamma_{V}^{\pm} = \frac{\lambda(M_{\mathcal{T}}, M_{k}, M_{V})M_{\mathcal{T}}}{16\pi M_{V}^{2}} \left[ 1 + \frac{M_{k}^{4}}{M_{\mathcal{T}}^{4}} - 2\frac{M_{V}^{4}}{M_{\mathcal{T}}^{4}} + \frac{M_{V}^{2}}{M_{\mathcal{T}}^{2}} + \frac{M_{k}^{2}}{M_{\mathcal{T}}^{2}} \frac{M_{V}^{2}}{M_{\mathcal{T}}^{2}} - 2\frac{M_{k}^{2}}{M_{\mathcal{T}}^{2}} \pm 6\frac{M_{k}}{M_{\mathcal{T}}} \frac{M_{V}^{2}}{M_{\mathcal{T}}^{2}} \right], \quad (3.10)$$

and,  $\lambda(x, y, z) \equiv \sqrt{x^4 + y^4 + z^4 - 2x^2y^2 - 2y^2z^2 - 2x^2z^2}$  is the Källén function.

Thus, the outcome of the analysis above is that in case of nearly degenerate states with  $|\Gamma_{\mathcal{T}}| \sim |\delta M| \ll M_{\mathcal{T}}$  we obtain a matrix propagator

$$i\left[(\not p - M_{\mathcal{T}})\mathbb{1} + \frac{i}{2}(\Gamma_{\mathcal{T}} + 2i\delta M)\right]_{ij}^{-1} \approx \left[\frac{i(\not p + M_{\mathcal{T}})}{(p^2 - M_{\mathcal{T}}^2)\mathbb{1} + iM_{\mathcal{T}}(\Gamma_{\mathcal{T}} + 2i\delta M)}\right]_{ij} \equiv i(\not p + M_{\mathcal{T}})\Delta_{ij}(p^2).$$
(3.11)

When considering top-partners pair production and their subsequent decays one must take into account the interference between the channels involving the nearly degenerate states using the above matrix propagator, leading to an interesting computational challenge. We will show a way to handle this puzzle for the specific example discussed in the next section.

## 4 Phenomenology of top-partners: an explicit example

Having presented the general construction of these models in the previous sections we now move to describe a specific example of such models displaying various unusual phenomenological features. We choose to employ the SU(5)/SO(5) coset since it has a rich pNGB sector with anomalous couplings to dibosons leading to a wide variety of decay channels for the top-partners. This coset leads to 14 pNGBs whose decomposition under  $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \supset SU(2)_{cust}$  is given by<sup>6</sup> (also see appendix A.1)

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{14} &\to (\mathbf{3}, \mathbf{3}) + (\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{2}) + (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}) \\ &\to \mathbf{1}(\chi_1^0) + \mathbf{3}(\chi_3^{\pm}, \chi_3^0) + \mathbf{5}(\chi_5^{\pm\pm}, \chi_5^{\pm}, \chi_5^0) + \mathbf{1}(h) + \mathbf{3}(G^{\pm}, G^0) + \mathbf{1}(\eta). \end{aligned}$$
(4.1)

After chosing the coset, the remaining discrete choices to be made are the irreps for the fermionic partner and the spurions of the third quark family. We choose the following irreps for the construction of our model (see appendix A.3 for details)

$$\hat{q}_L = t_L D_{t_L}^1 + b_L D_{b_L}^1 \in \mathbf{24}, \quad \hat{t}_R = t_R D_{t_R}^2 \in \mathbf{24}, \quad \Psi_A \in \mathbf{10}.$$
 (4.2)

The spurions are involved in the construction of both the scalar potential and the Yukawa couplings, while the choice of the partner only affects the latter. The relevant parts of the Lagrangian are given in appendix B.

We choose  $\Psi_A \in \mathbf{10}$  for simplicity, since it leads to a more restricted number of partners while retaining the main interesting features. Chosing the symmetric irrep for  $\Psi$  would give rise to additional fermions with exotic charges 8/3 and -4/3. There are only a few possible choices for the spurions [11] satisfying the necessary requirements (such as no vevs for the triplets) and eq. (4.2) complies with them.

To set the notation we present the decomposition of the partners' irrep  $\mathbf{10}_{2/3}$  under  $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \times U(1)_X \supset SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$ 

$$\mathbf{10}_{\frac{2}{3}} \to (\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{2})_{\frac{2}{3}} + (\mathbf{3}, \mathbf{1})_{\frac{2}{3}} + (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3})_{\frac{2}{3}}$$

$$\to \mathbf{2}_{\frac{1}{6}} \left( T_{\frac{2}{3}}, B_{-\frac{1}{3}} \right) + \mathbf{2}_{\frac{7}{6}} \left( X_{\frac{5}{3}}, X_{\frac{2}{3}} \right) + \mathbf{3}_{\frac{2}{3}} \left( Y_{\frac{5}{3}}, Y_{\frac{2}{3}}, Y_{-\frac{1}{3}} \right) + \mathbf{1}_{-\frac{1}{3}} \left( \tilde{B}_{-\frac{1}{3}} \right) + \mathbf{1}_{\frac{2}{3}} \left( \tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}} \right) + \mathbf{1}_{\frac{5}{3}} \left( \tilde{X}_{\frac{5}{3}} \right) .$$

$$(4.3)$$

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$ The superscripts denote the electric charges and G denotes the Goldstones eaten by the SM gauge bosons.

Top-partner	Decays to SM final states	Decays to BSM final states
$T_{\frac{2}{3}}, X_{\frac{2}{3}}, Y_{\frac{2}{3}}, \tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}}$	$th, tZ, bW^+$	$t\chi^0_{1,3,5}, t\eta, b\chi^+_{3,5}$
$B_{-\frac{1}{3}},Y_{-\frac{1}{3}},\tilde{B}_{-\frac{1}{3}}$	$tW^-, bh, bZ$	$t\chi_{3,5}^{-},b\chi_{1,3,5}^{0},b\eta$
$X_{rac{5}{3}},Y_{rac{5}{3}}, ilde{X}_{rac{5}{3}}$	$tW^+$	$t\chi_{3,5}^+, b\chi_5^{++}$

Table 3. Possible decay channels of the vector-like fermionic partners for the model discussed in this section, with the choice given in eq. (4.2).



Figure 3. The pair production cross-section  $\sigma(pp \to \Psi \bar{\Psi})$  for any color triplet calculated using Top++ [83] at the NNLO+NNLL accuracy with centre of mass energies  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV and 14 TeV, respectively.

The interesting novel feature of this model is having top partners with much reduced branching ratios to the usual SM channels th, tZ, and bW and instead a large branching ratio to beyond the SM (BSM) mediated channels such as  $t(\eta \to \gamma \gamma)$  as we now proceed to discuss.

We consider only pair production of top-partners and their subsequent decays. All the possible two body decay channels for this model are listed in table 3. Recall that pair production of the vector-like quarks is model independent and is a function of their mass only. The pair production cross-section  $\sigma(pp \to \Psi\bar{\Psi})$  for any color triplet is calculated at the NNLO+NNLL accuracy with Top++ [83] using the sets NNPDF4.0 parton densities and is shown in figure 3 (see [84] for corrections arising from the finite size of the partners).

We now need to consider the various decay modes. In this paper we are only concerned with the total cross section for each channel without any detailed study of the reach attainable at colliders. This is a first step needed to justify further studies and it already involves an interesting challenge, since we must deal with a nearly degenerate spectrum and want to take into account the interference between channels. This problem has been encountered and studied before in similar contexts [85–87], but here we present a different angle on it, showing how to treat off-diagonal contributions to masses and widths in the particular limit of interest for this paper.

	Masses (in GeV)						oupling	gs
f	M	$m_3$	$m_5$	$m_1$	$m_{\eta}$	$y_L$	$y_R$	$\kappa$
1000	1500	330	315	335	290	1.80	1.87	0.50

Table 4. Choice of benchmark parameters used in this section.

We quickly review the tree level spectrum of the partners (see appendix B for explicit expressions of the mass matrix). The three fermionic partners with Q = 5/3 are all degenerate at tree level with mass M. In the Q = -1/3 sector we assume that the bottom quark receives a mass through a bilinear operator. The tree level masses of the remaining vector-like quarks with Q = -1/3 are M, M, and  $\sqrt{M^2 + y_L^2 v^2}$ , respectively. The charge 2/3 states in the gauge eigenbasis are denoted by  $t, T_{\frac{2}{3}}, X_{\frac{2}{3}}, Y_{\frac{2}{3}}, \tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}}$ , where t comes from the elementary sector and the remaining fields from eq. (4.3). The leading order mixing in the mass matrix appears from the coupling of  $\tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}L}$  and  $t_R$ , while  $Y_{\frac{2}{3}}$  mixes at  $\mathcal{O}(\theta)$  and  $T_{\frac{2}{3}}$ ,  $X_{\frac{2}{3}}$  do not mix at all with either  $t_L$  or  $t_R$ . The tree level masses in the top sector after singular value decomposition are given as  $m_t$ , M, M,  $\sqrt{M^2 + y_L^2 v^2/4}$ , and  $\sqrt{M^2 + y_R^2 f^2}$ , respectively.

In what follows, we will be interested in the phenomenology of the lightest two toppartners  $T_{\frac{2}{3}}$  and  $X_{\frac{2}{3}}$  with tree level mass M. The benchmark parameters used for this study are displayed in the table 4. The pNGB masses are obtained by minimizing the potential given in eq. (2.14). The benchmark shown in the table 4 has mass eigenstates of the pNGBs approximately aligned to the custodial direction. Here  $m_3$ ,  $m_5$  and  $m_1$  denote the masses of the custodial triplet  $\chi_3$ , quintet  $\chi_5$  and the singlet  $\chi_1^0$ , while  $m_\eta$  denotes the mass of the pure singlet  $\eta$ .

#### 4.1 Decay of nearly degenerate top-partners

We consider the processes shown in the figure 4  $pp \to \mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B}$ , where  $\mathcal{T} \equiv T_{\frac{2}{3}}, X_{\frac{2}{3}}$ collectively denotes the two nearly degenerate top-partners and  $A, B \equiv (bW^+), (tZ) \dots (b\chi_5^+)$  $(\overline{B} \text{ just being the charge conjugate of } B)$ . Thus A and B run over the possible SM and BSM decay modes shown in the first row of table 3. Since the pair production mode is universal we can factor out the production cross section  $\sigma(pp \to T_{\frac{2}{3}}, \overline{T}_{-\frac{2}{3}}) = \sigma(pp \to X_{\frac{2}{3}}, \overline{X}_{-\frac{2}{3}})$ displayed in figure 3. However, note that even at one-loop their mass splittings, computed using the eqs. (3.5) and (3.6), are smaller than their individual decay widths. Therefore we need to consider the interference between their identical decay channels and the fact that the propagator in eq. (3.11) is not diagonal.

We have been able to show that in the narrow width approximation (NWA), even in the presence of an off-diagonal matrix propagator one can factorize the cross-section as

.....

$$\sigma(pp \to \mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B}) \stackrel{\text{NWA}}{=} N_{\mathcal{T}}\sigma(pp \to \mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}})\mathcal{BR}_2(\mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B}), \qquad (4.4)$$

where in our case  $N_{\mathcal{T}} \equiv 2$  denotes the number of degenerate fermionic states in the amplitude. The quantity  $\mathcal{BR}_2(\mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B})$  denotes the 'joint branching ratio' of  $\mathcal{T} \to A$  and  $\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to \overline{B}$ .



**Figure 4.** Feynman diagram for the process  $pp \to \mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B}$  where  $\mathcal{T}$  denotes the lightest top-partners  $T_{2/3}$  and  $X_{2/3}$ , while A and B represent any of the decay channels shown in table 3. The propagators are labeled with e.g.  $\mathcal{T}_i, \mathcal{T}_j$  to emphasize that the nearly degenerate top-partners can mix as shown in eq. (3.11).

This is the only factorization allowed in eq. (4.4) if one wants to keep the interference between the channels. The details of the calculation will be reported in an upcoming paper, however, the main steps for calculating  $\mathcal{BR}_2(\mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B})$  are given in appendix C. Notice that it is not possible to write  $\mathcal{BR}_2$  as a product of two branching ratios, as one would do if there was no degeneracy. It is however possible to define an effective branching ratio of  $\mathcal{T} \to A$  as

$$\mathcal{BR}(\mathcal{T} \to A) \equiv \sum_{\bar{B}} \mathcal{BR}_2(\mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\bar{B}), \text{ such that, } \sum_A \mathcal{BR}(\mathcal{T} \to A) = 1, \qquad (4.5)$$

but again  $\mathcal{BR}_2(\mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B}) \neq \mathcal{BR}(\mathcal{T} \to A)\mathcal{BR}(\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to \overline{B})$  implying non-trivial correlations between the two final states.

For our benchmark point the central value of the mass for  $\mathcal{T} \equiv T_{\frac{2}{3}}, X_{\frac{2}{3}}$  including one loop corrections is found to be at  $M_{\mathcal{T}} = 1.36$  TeV. The numerical value of the one loop mass splitting and the total decay width matrix are

$$\delta M = \begin{pmatrix} 33.3 & -3.9 \\ -3.9 & -33.3 \end{pmatrix} \text{ GeV}, \quad \Gamma_{\mathcal{T}} = \begin{pmatrix} 121.8 & 3.7 \\ 3.7 & 165.2 \end{pmatrix} \text{ GeV}.$$
(4.6)

In figure 5 we present the  $\mathcal{BR}_2(\mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B})$  for our choice of benchmark parameters. On top of the plot we also show the values of  $\mathcal{BR}(\mathcal{T} \to A)$  as given in eq. (4.5) for each two-body decay channels. The joint branching ratios are not too sensitive to the change in  $y_L$ ,  $\kappa$  and M as long as  $M \gg m_{\text{pNGB}}$ . For the model under consideration the couplings  $\overline{\mathcal{T}}bW^+$  are zero at  $\mathcal{O}(\theta)$  in the absence of PC mixing of  $b_R$ , and also  $\overline{\mathcal{T}}tZ$  appears at  $\mathcal{O}(\theta)$ . From figure 5 we observe that the joint branching ratios to the BSM channels dominate compared to the SM channels. Clearly, the most promising channel is  $pp \to \mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to t\bar{t}\eta\eta$ with  $\mathcal{BR}_2 = 0.20$ .

For the next-to-lightest top-partner  $Y_{\frac{2}{3}}$  the dominating channels constitute of SM two-body final states. Similar calculations can be performed for the fermionic partners with



**Figure 5.** Joint branching ratios  $\mathcal{BR}_2(\mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B})$  as in eq. (4.4) for our benchmark parameter choice where  $A(\overline{B})$  is given in the vertical (horizontal) axis of the plot. Since  $\mathcal{BR}_2(\mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B})$  is a symmetric matrix we only present the lower triangle. The numbers on the top of the figure show the values of  $\mathcal{BR}(\mathcal{T} \to A)$  as given in eq. (4.5).

Q = -1/3 and Q = 5/3 as well. If the top-partners belong to  $\mathbf{14}_{2/3}$  and the top quark is embedded in the adjoint of SU(5), a similar scenario can be constructed where the lightest top-partners also dominantly decay into the BSM states.

#### 4.2 Decay of pNGBs

To extract the observable signal we need to combine  $\sigma(pp \to T\overline{T} \to A\overline{B})$  with the branching ratio of the pNGBs into the appropriate SM channels. While still promptly decaying, the pNGBs have a very small width so that in this case we can employ the usual NWA and ignore any further interference. The specific combination of cross-sections and branching ratios that needs to be employed depend on the final states one wants to target and how inclusive one wants to be.

As mentioned in the Introduction, we now focus on the diphoton channel and calculate the branching ratios of the neutral pseudoscalar pNGBs using the expressions given in [58]. In the specific scenario we are considering, among the BSM pNGBs only  $\eta$  couples to the  $t\bar{t}$ pair with a strength (at  $\mathcal{O}(\theta)$ ) proportional to

$$\mathcal{L}_{\eta t\bar{t}} = \frac{f^2 \, v \, \kappa \, y_L \, y_R^3}{2\sqrt{10}(M^2 + y_R^2 f^2)^{3/2}} i \eta \bar{t} \gamma_5 t \,, \tag{4.7}$$

while the other pseudoscalars  $\chi_5^0$  and  $\chi_1^0$  do not couple to  $t\bar{t}$  at  $\mathcal{O}(\theta)$ . As a result,  $\eta$  couples to a pair of gluons through a top quark loop which has a strength comparable to the WZW terms.

In figure 6 we present the branching ratios of  $\eta$ ,  $\chi_5^0$  and  $\chi_1^0$ , respectively using the benchmark values of M, f,  $y_{L,R}$  and  $\kappa$  given in table 4. Note that  $\eta$  decays dominantly to



**Figure 6.** Branching ratios of pseudoscalar pNGBs into SM final states using the values of M, f,  $y_{L,R}$  and  $\kappa$  given in table 4 and dim $(\psi) = 6$  in the anomalous couplings of eq. (2.7). We assume that mass splitting among the pNGBs remain same as given in table 4 throughout the entire mass range on the horizontal axes of each plots.

 $t\bar{t}$  pair if  $m_{\eta} > 2m_t$ , while for  $\chi_5^0$  and  $\chi_1^0$  the branching ratio to diphoton dominates over a large range of masses. For our benchmark masses, the three body decays  $\chi_1^0 \to \chi_3^0 f \bar{f}$  and  $\chi_1^0 \to \chi_3^{\pm} f \bar{f}'$  (where f, f' denote leptons or light quarks) via off-shell W or Z are orders of magnitude smaller compared to the two body decays  $(BR(\chi_1^0 \to \chi_3^0 f \bar{f}) = 3.3 \times 10^{-4}$  and  $BR(\chi_1^0 \to \chi_3^{\pm} f \bar{f}') = 1.2 \times 10^{-4})$ .

Having the branching ratios of the neutral pNGBs we can compute the cross sections for various signals of interest. Focusing on the diphoton, we could consider the inclusive process with a top quark and a diphoton resonance in the final state:

$$\sigma\left(pp \to (t\gamma\gamma)\dots\right) = \sum_{\pi^{\alpha} = \eta, \chi^{0}_{1,3,5}} \sum_{\bar{B} = \text{all}} \sigma\left(pp \to (t\pi^{\alpha})\bar{B}\right) BR(\pi^{\alpha} \to \gamma\gamma),$$
  
$$= N_{\mathcal{T}}\sigma(pp \to \mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}}) \sum_{\pi^{\alpha} = \eta, \chi^{0}_{1,3,5}} \mathcal{BR}\left(\mathcal{T} \to t\pi^{\alpha}\right) BR(\pi^{\alpha} \to \gamma\gamma), \quad (4.8)$$

where, for ease of notation we now omit all the intermediate states in the expression of the cross section. For the specific scenario discussed above and for our choice of benchmark parameters we find  $\sigma (pp \rightarrow (t\gamma\gamma)...) \sim 1.31$  fb.

The cross section given in eq. (4.8) is relevant for the leptonically decaying top quark where the distinction between a top and an anti-top is possible. However, for a hadronically decaying top, a more inclusive cross section as given below is of relevance:

$$\sigma\left(pp \to (t/t\gamma\gamma)\dots\right)$$

$$= \sum_{\pi^{\alpha}=\eta,\chi_{1,3,5}^{0}} \left[ \sum_{\bar{B}=\mathrm{all}} \sigma\left(pp \to (t\pi^{\alpha})\bar{B}\right) + \sum_{A=\mathrm{all}} \sigma\left(pp \to A(\bar{t}\pi^{\alpha})\right) \right] BR(\pi^{\alpha} \to \gamma\gamma),$$

$$- \sum_{\pi^{\alpha,\beta}=\eta,\chi_{1,3,5}^{0}} \sigma\left(pp \to (t\pi^{\alpha})(\bar{t}\pi^{\beta})\right) BR(\pi^{\alpha} \to \gamma\gamma) BR(\pi^{\beta} \to \gamma\gamma),$$

$$= N_{\mathcal{T}}\sigma(pp \to \mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}}) \left[ 2 \sum_{\pi^{\alpha}=\eta,\chi_{1,3,5}^{0}} \mathcal{BR}(\mathcal{T} \to t\pi^{\alpha}) BR(\pi^{\alpha} \to \gamma\gamma),$$

$$- \sum_{\pi^{\alpha,\beta}=\eta,\chi_{1,3,5}^{0}} \mathcal{BR}_{2}\left(\mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to (t\pi^{\alpha})(\bar{t}\pi^{\beta})\right) BR(\pi^{\alpha} \to \gamma\gamma) BR(\pi^{\beta} \to \gamma\gamma) \right].$$
(4.9)

We subtracted the processes with four photons in the final state to avoid double counting. For our specific model, the choice given in table 4 yields  $\sigma (pp \to (t/\bar{t}\gamma\gamma)...) \sim 2.43$  fb.

Note that more exclusive processes can be obtained by restricting the sum over B in eq. (4.8). On the other hand, more inclusive quantities, such as the fully inclusive diphoton signal  $\sigma(pp \to \gamma\gamma \dots)$  would require the cross section of the processes involving additional intermediate fermionic partners with nearly equal masses, as well as the branching ratios of the charged pNGBs, which is beyond the scope of this paper.

## 5 Conclusions

In this paper we constructed the low energy Lagrangian of a class of models with vector-like quarks and pNGB scalars, addressing the electroweak hierarchy problem within the partial compositeness framework. We presented the Lagrangian for three minimal cosets arising from strongly coupled gauge theories with fermionic matter in the UV. Our approach, based on symmetries motivated from specific UV realizations, greatly reduces the number of free parameters compared to the simplified models with the same field content.

In these models, the structure of the fermion mass matrix and spectrum follows a specific pattern, and in particular, we highlighted the presence of nearly degenerate fermionic partners. We further estimated the one loop mass splitting in the degenerate sector.

We then focused on a concrete example based on the SU(5)/SO(5) coset to investigate the possible signatures of top-partners at colliders. We considered a minimalistic choice of both the irreps of the fermionic partners as well as the spurionic embedding of the SM third family quarks. We calculated the cross sections for production of a pair of lightest and nearly degenerate top-partners followed by their decays into SM and pNGB final states. The pNGBs were allowed to decay either into dibosons or a pair of third family quarks. For the nearly degenerate states we incorporated the effects of the off-diagonal self energy and the full quantum interference in the resonant production cross section and branching ratios. We showed that for the specific model in question the lightest top-partners decay dominantly into a top quark and a pseudoscalar pNGB, which in turn can decay to diphoton, primarily through anomalous interactions. This leads to a promising channel to search for top-partners at the LHC with an inclusive cross section of the order of a few femtobarns.

## Acknowledgments

This work is supported by the Knut and Alice Wallenberg foundation under the grant KAW 2017.0100 (SHIFT project). We would like to thank Luca Panizzi and Venugopal Ellajosyula for discussions and Thomas Flacke, Manuel Kunkel, and Leonard Schwarze for comments on the draft.

## A Building blocks for the IR theory

In this section we provide more technical details on the basic building blocks needed to write the IR Lagrangian for a generic  $\mathcal{G}/\mathcal{H}$  coset. The explicit expression for the generators of  $\mathrm{SU}(2)_{\mathrm{L}} \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_{\mathrm{R}}$   $(T_{L}^{i}, T_{R}^{i})$ , the pNGB matrix  $\Pi$ , and the vacuum matrices  $\Omega(\theta)$  are the same as in [10] and will not be repeated.

## A.1 pNGBs

We present the decompositions of the pNGBs under the various subgroups of  $\mathcal{H}$ , paying attention to the transformation to the custodial basis, to set the notation.

**I.** SU(4)/Sp(4) coset. The minimal SU(4)/Sp(4) coset delivers 5 pNGBs viz. a complex Higgs doublet  $H = (H_+, H_0)$  and a real pseudoscalar singlet  $\eta$ , respectively. The decompositions of **5** of Sp(4)  $\simeq$  SO(5) under SU(2)<sub>L</sub>  $\times$  SU(2)<sub>R</sub>  $\supset$  SU(2)<sub>L</sub>  $\times$  U(1)<sub>Y</sub> is given as

$$\mathbf{5} \to (\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{2}) + (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}) \to \mathbf{2}_{\pm 1/2}(H) + \mathbf{1}_0(\eta).$$
 (A.1)

This is the same field content of the model [37]. In our convention the Sp(4) invariant tensor  $\epsilon$  is the symplectic matrix  $\epsilon_0 \equiv i\sigma^3 \otimes \sigma^2$  so that  $U = \Sigma \epsilon_0 \Sigma^T$ . Because the additional pNGB  $\eta$  is a singlet of SU(2)<sub>L</sub> × SU(2)<sub>R</sub> nothing needs to be done to go to the custodial basis, other than, of course the usual decomposition already present in the SM (2, 2)  $\rightarrow$  1(*h*)+3( $G^{\pm}, G^{0}$ ), where  $G^{\pm,0}$  are the would be Goldstone bosons eaten by the  $W^{\pm}$  and Z.

II. SU(5)/SO(5) coset. The 14 pNGBs in this coset transforming as 14 of SO(5) can be decomposed on restriction to  $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \supset SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$  as

$$\mathbf{14} \to (\mathbf{3}, \mathbf{3}) + (\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{2}) + (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}) \to \mathbf{3}_0(\Phi_0) + \mathbf{3}_{\pm 1}(\Phi_{\pm}) + \mathbf{2}_{\pm 1/2}(H) + \mathbf{1}_0(\eta) \,. \tag{A.2}$$

Therefore the pNGBs comprise of the usual Higgs doublet  $H = (H_+, H_0)$  along with a  $SU(2)_L$  real triplet  $\Phi_0 = (\phi_0^-, \phi_0^0, \phi_0^+)$ , a complex triplet  $\Phi_{\pm} = (\phi_{\pm}^-, \phi_{\pm}^0, \phi_{\pm}^+)$  and a real singlet  $\eta$ . For this coset the symmetric invariant matrix  $\epsilon$  is taken to be the identity matrix so that  $U = \Sigma \Sigma^T$ .

It is also relevant to show the pNGB content in the custodial basis, since this is a good approximate symmetry of the potental. Under  $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \rightarrow SU(2)_{cust}$  the pNGBs decompose as

$$(3,3) \to 1+3+5$$
,  $(2,2) \to 1+3$ ,  $(1,1) \to 1$ . (A.3)

Since we assume that only the Higgs doublet receives a vev, the custodial triplet originating from the  $(\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{2})$  serves as the would be Goldsotne boson to be eaten up by the  $W^{\pm}$  and Z bosons, as before. The physical pNGB spectrum contains one custodial quintet  $\chi_5 \equiv$  $(\chi_5^0, \chi_5^{\pm}, \chi_5^{\pm\pm})$ , one triplet  $\chi_3 \equiv (\chi_3^0, \chi_3^{\pm})$ , and three singlets  $(h, \chi_1^0, \eta)$ , out of which the singlet h associated with the  $(\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{2})$  is identified with the 125 GeV Higgs boson. The relation between the triplets  $\Phi_0$  and  $\Phi_{\pm}$  with the custodial basis  $(\chi_1^0, \chi_3, \chi_5)$  is given by

$$\phi_0^0 = -\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\chi_5^0 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\chi_1^0, \qquad \phi_+^- = \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}}\chi_5^0 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\chi_1^0 + \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}}\chi_3^0,$$
  
$$\phi_0^+ = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\left(\chi_5^+ + i\chi_3^+\right), \qquad \phi_+^0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\left(-\chi_5^+ + i\chi_3^+\right), \qquad \phi_+^+ = \chi_5^{++}.$$
(A.4)

Note that the phase convention for the Clebsch-Gordan coefficients in (A.4) is slightly different from the conventional one for consistency with the choice of generators. The convention used here is the same as the one in [11] apart from the sign of  $\phi_0^+$ .

III.  $SU(4)_l \times SU(4)_r/SU(4)_d$  coset. Finally, in case of the  $SU(4)_l \times SU(4)_r/SU(4)_d$  coset, discussed in [15], the 15 pNGBs transform under the adjoint of the unbroken  $SU(4)_d$  can be decomposed on restriction to  $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \supset SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$  as

$$\mathbf{15} \to (\mathbf{3}, \mathbf{1}) + (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3}) + 2 \cdot (\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{2}) + (\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1}) \to \mathbf{3}_0(\Delta) + 2 \cdot \mathbf{2}_{\pm 1/2}(H, H') + \mathbf{1}_{\pm 1}(N^{\pm}) + 2 \cdot \mathbf{1}_0(N^0, \eta) .$$
(A.5)

The *H* is the same Higgs doublet as before, while *H'* is an additional doublet.  $\Delta = (\Delta^{\pm}, \Delta^{0})$  is a triplet of SU(2)<sub>L</sub> and  $N = (N^{\pm}, N^{0})$  a triplet of SU(2)<sub>R</sub> decomposed according to its hypercharge, which in this case coincides with the electric charge.  $\Delta$  and *N* are already custodial triplets.

#### A.2 Fermionic partners

The fermionic partners transform under an irrep of  $\mathcal{H}$ . In table 5, we present the decomposition of the relevant irreps of  $SO(5) \times U(1)_X$  (same as those of  $Sp(4) \times U(1)_X$ ) and of  $SU(4) \times U(1)_X$  under  $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \times U(1)_X \supset SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$ . Below we show the explicit notations for the pseudo real, real and the complex cosets, respectively.

**I.** SU(4)/Sp(4) coset. We consider partners in the  $\mathbf{1}(\Psi_N)$ ,  $\mathbf{5}(\Psi_A)$ ,  $\mathbf{10}(\Psi_S/\Psi_D)$  of Sp(4). The explicit expressions for them are given in terms of SU(2)<sub>L</sub> × SU(2)<sub>R</sub> submultiplets as (in 2 + 2 block notation for the matrices)

$$\Psi_N = \tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}}, \quad \Psi_A = \left(\frac{\frac{i}{2}\tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}}\sigma^2 \left|\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Psi_{(2,2)}\right|}{-\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Psi_{(2,2)}^T \left|\frac{i}{2}\tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}}\sigma^2\right|}, \quad \Psi_S = \left(\frac{\Psi_{(3,1)} \left|\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Psi_{(2,2)}\right|}{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Psi_{(2,2)}^T \left|\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Psi_{(2,2)}\right|}\right), \quad (A.6)$$

$SO(5) \times U(1)_X$	$SU(2)_L\!\times\!SU(2)_R\!\times\!U(1)_X$	$SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$
$1_{rac{2}{3}}$	$ ightarrow ({f 1},{f 1})_{2\over 3}$	$ ightarrow 1_{rac{2}{3}}$
$5_{rac{2}{3}}$	$ ightarrow (1,1)_{rac{2}{3}} + (2,2)_{rac{2}{3}}$	$ ightarrow {f 1}_{rac{2}{3}} + {f 2}_{rac{1}{6}} + {f 2}_{rac{7}{6}}$
$10_{rac{2}{3}}$	$ ightarrow ({f 2},{f 2})_{rac{2}{3}} + ({f 3},{f 1})_{rac{2}{3}} + ({f 1},{f 3})_{rac{2}{3}}$	$ ightarrow {f 1}_{rac{2}{3}} + {f 1}_{rac{5}{3}} + {f 1}_{-rac{1}{3}} + {f 2}_{rac{1}{6}} + {f 2}_{rac{7}{6}} + {f 3}_{rac{2}{3}}$
$14_{rac{2}{3}}$	$ ightarrow ({f 1},{f 1})_{rac{2}{3}} + ({f 2},{f 2})_{rac{2}{3}} + ({f 3},{f 3})_{rac{2}{3}}$	$ ightarrow {f 1}_{rac{2}{3}} + {f 2}_{rac{1}{6}} + {f 2}_{rac{7}{6}} + {f 3}_{rac{2}{3}} + {f 3}_{rac{5}{3}} + {f 3}_{-rac{1}{3}}$
$SU(4) \times U(1)_X$	$SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \times U(1)_X$	$SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$
$1_{rac{2}{3}}$	$ ightarrow ({f 1},{f 1})_{2\over 3}$	$ ightarrow 1_{rac{2}{3}}$
$6_{\frac{2}{3}}$	$ ightarrow 2 \cdot (1, 1)_{rac{2}{3}} + (2, 2)_{rac{2}{3}}$	$ ightarrow 2 \cdot 1_{rac{2}{3}} + 2_{rac{1}{6}} + 2_{rac{7}{6}}$
$10_{rac{2}{3}}$	$ ightarrow ({f 2},{f 2})_{rac{2}{3}} + ({f 3},{f 1})_{rac{2}{3}} + ({f 1},{f 3})_{rac{2}{3}}$	$\rightarrow 1_{\frac{2}{3}} + 1_{\frac{5}{3}} + 1_{-\frac{1}{3}} + 2_{\frac{1}{6}} + 2_{\frac{7}{6}} + 3_{\frac{2}{3}}$
$15_{rac{2}{3}}$	$ ightarrow ({f 1},{f 1})_{rac{2}{3}} + 2 \cdot ({f 2},{f 2})_{rac{2}{3}} + ({f 3},{f 1})_{rac{2}{3}} + ({f 1},{f 3})_{rac{2}{3}}$	$\rightarrow 2 \cdot 1_{\frac{2}{3}} + 1_{\frac{5}{3}} + 1_{-\frac{1}{3}} + 2 \cdot 2_{\frac{1}{6}} + 2 \cdot 2_{\frac{7}{6}} + 3_{\frac{2}{3}}$

**Table 5.** The decomposition of  $\text{Sp}(4) \times \text{U}(1)_X \simeq \text{SO}(5) \times \text{U}(1)_X$  irreps and  $\text{SU}(4) \times \text{U}(1)_X$  irreps under  $\text{SU}(2)_L \times \text{SU}(2)_R \times \text{U}(1)_X$ . All partners have X = 2/3. In the last column  $Y = T_R^3 + X$ . We do not include the  $4_{1/6}$  irreps since they present phenomenological problems [79] and cannot be realized in the UV completions [10, 58] under consideration.

where the submultiplets are given by

$$\Psi_{(2,2)} = \begin{pmatrix} X_{\frac{5}{3}} & T_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ X_{\frac{2}{3}} & B_{-\frac{1}{3}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Psi_{(3,1)} = \begin{pmatrix} Y_{\frac{5}{3}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}Y_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}Y_{\frac{2}{3}} & Y_{-\frac{1}{3}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Psi_{(1,3)} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{X}_{\frac{5}{3}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}} & \tilde{B}_{-\frac{1}{3}} \end{pmatrix}. \quad (A.7)$$

The adjoint irrep is equivalent to the symmetric, but the explicit form in terms of the fields is  $\Psi_D = \Psi_S \epsilon_0$  since the transformations under a generic generator  $T^a$  of Sp(4) are respectively  $T^a \Psi_S + \Psi_S T^{aT}$  and  $[T^a, \Psi_D]$ , where  $T^a \epsilon_0 = -\epsilon_0 T^{aT}$ .

**II.** SU(5)/SO(5) coset. Similarly, for the real coset we consider partners in the  $\mathbf{1}(\Psi_N)$ ,  $\mathbf{5}(\Psi_F)$ ,  $\mathbf{10}(\Psi_{A/D})$  and  $\mathbf{14}(\Psi_S)$  of SO(5). The notations used for the partners belonging to irreps of SO(5) are (in 4 + 1 block notation)

$$\Psi_{N} = \tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}}, \quad \Psi_{F} = \left(\frac{\Psi_{(2,2)}}{i\tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}}}\right), \quad \Psi_{A/D} = \left(\frac{\Psi_{(3,1)} + \Psi_{(1,3)} \left|\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Psi_{(2,2)}\right|}{-\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Psi_{(2,2)}^{T} \left|\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\right|^{2}}\right),$$

$$\Psi_{S} = \left(\frac{\Psi_{(3,3)} + \frac{i}{2\sqrt{5}}\tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}}\mathbb{1}_{4} \left|\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Psi_{(2,2)}\right|}{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\Psi_{(2,2)}^{T} \left|-\frac{2i}{\sqrt{5}}\tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}}\right|^{2}}\right). \tag{A.8}$$

The  $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R$  submultiplets are

$$\Psi_{(2,2)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} iB_{-\frac{1}{3}} - iX_{\frac{5}{3}} \\ B_{-\frac{1}{3}} + X_{\frac{5}{3}} \\ iT_{\frac{2}{3}} + iX_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ -T_{\frac{2}{3}} + X_{\frac{2}{3}} \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.9)

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{(3,1)} &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ Y_{\frac{2}{3}} & \frac{Y_{-\frac{1}{3}} - Y_{5}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{-iY_{-\frac{1}{3}} - iY_{5}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & \frac{-iY_{-\frac{1}{3}} - iY_{5}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{-Y_{-\frac{1}{3}} + Y_{5}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & Y_{\frac{2}{3}} & \frac{-Y_{-\frac{1}{3}} + Y_{5}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & Y_{\frac{2}{3}} & \frac{-Y_{-\frac{1}{3}} + Y_{5}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & Y_{\frac{2}{3}} & \frac{-Y_{-\frac{1}{3}} + Y_{5}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & 0 & Y_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ 0 & -T_{\frac{2}{3}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \end{split}$$
(A.10) 
$$\begin{split} \Psi_{(3,3)} &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} iY_{\frac{2}{3}} + iV_{-\frac{4}{3}} - U_{\frac{8}{3}} & V_{-\frac{4}{3}} - iU_{\frac{8}{3}} \\ iY_{\frac{2}{3}} - iV_{-\frac{4}{3}} + U_{\frac{8}{3}} & \frac{V_{-\frac{1}{3}} - U_{\frac{5}{3}} - Y_{-\frac{1}{3}} + Y_{\frac{5}{3}}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{iV_{-\frac{1}{3}} - iX_{\frac{5}{3}}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ - iY_{-\frac{1}{3}} - iV_{\frac{5}{3}} + iV_{-\frac{1}{3}} - iU_{\frac{8}{3}} & \frac{-iV_{-\frac{1}{3}} - U_{\frac{5}{3}} - Y_{-\frac{1}{3}} + Y_{\frac{5}{3}}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ - iY_{-\frac{1}{3}} - iV_{-\frac{1}{3}} + iU_{\frac{2}{3}} + iV_{-\frac{1}{3}} - iV_{\frac{5}{3}} + iY_{-\frac{1}{3}} - iY_{\frac{5}{3}} \\ - iY_{-\frac{1}{3}} - iV_{-\frac{1}{3}} + iU_{\frac{2}{3}} + iV_{\frac{2}{3}} & \frac{iV_{-\frac{1}{3}} - iU_{\frac{5}{3}} + iY_{-\frac{1}{3}} - iY_{\frac{5}{3}}}{\sqrt{2}} \\ - iY_{\frac{2}{3}} - iU_{\frac{2}{3}} - iV_{\frac{2}{3}} - iV_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ - iY_{\frac{2}{3}} - iU_{\frac{2}{3}} - iU_{\frac{2}{3}} - iV_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ - iY_{\frac{2}{3}} - iU_{\frac{2}{3}} - iU_{\frac{2}{3}} - iV_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ - iY_{\frac{2}{3}} - iU_{\frac{2}{3}} - iU_{\frac{2}{3}} - iV_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ - iY_{\frac{2}{3}} - iU_{\frac{2}{3}} - iV_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ - iY_{\frac{2}{3}} - iU_{\frac{2}{3}} - iU_{\frac{2}{3}} - iV_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ - iY_{\frac{2}{3}} - iV_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ - iY_{\frac{2}{3}} - iV_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ - iY_{\frac{2}{3}} - iV_{\frac{2}{3}} - iV_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ - iY_{\frac{2}{3}} - iV_{\frac{2}{3}} \\ - iY$$

We present only the upper triangular matrices in eqs. (A.10) and (A.11). One should remember that  $\Psi_{(3,1)}$  and  $\Psi_{(1,3)}$  are antisymmetric while  $\Psi_{(3,3)}$  is symmetric. For this coset the notation for the adjoint and antisymmetric fields are exactly the same since we choose  $T^a = -T^{aT}$  for all SO(5) generators.

III.  $SU(4)_{l} \times SU(4)_{r}/SU(4)_{d}$  coset. The field content of the complex coset can be inferred directly from that of the pseudoreal one, since the generators of  $SU(2)_{L} \times SU(2)_{R}$ are the same. Specifically, the antisymmetric of  $SU(4)_{d}$  is the same as that of Sp(4) in (A.6) augmented by an additional Sp(4) singlet  $\frac{1}{2}T'_{23}\epsilon_{0}$ , the symmetric is exactly the same, and the adjoint can be taken as  $\Psi_{A}\epsilon_{0} + \Psi_{S}\epsilon_{0}$  for two generic symmetric and antisymmetric matrices as in (A.6).

## A.3 Spurions

Finally we list the explicit expressions for the spurion matrices realizing the embedding of the elementary fields  $t_L$ ,  $b_L$  and  $t_R$ . The ones relevant for section 4 are the adjoint spurions  $D_{t_L}^1$ ,  $D_{b_L}^1$ , and  $D_{t_R}^2$  of SU(5)/SO(5) coset as discussed below. Notice that all spurions must carry X = 2/3 since we need to form a Yukawa coupling with the fermionic partners by PC. This restricts the possible embeddings quite significantly. In particular, looking at the decomposition of the various irreps under SU(2)<sub>L</sub> × SU(2)<sub>R</sub>, the only allowed embedding for the LH doublet  $q_L$  is in the  $(\mathbf{2}, \mathbf{2})_{\frac{2}{3}}$ , while  $t_R$  can be embedded into the singlet  $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1})_{\frac{2}{3}}$  or the  $T_R^3 = 0$  component of  $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3})_{\frac{2}{3}}$ .

**I.** SU(4)/Sp(4) coset. The relevant spurions are those included in the irreps of SU(4): **1**, **6**, **10**, **10**, **15**, where the symmetric cases **10**, **10** can be treated together. The embedding matrices for  $t_R$  are given by (with the superscripts denoting possible degeneracy in the embedding)

$$N_{t_R} = (1), \quad A_{t_R}^1 = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^2 & 0 \\ 0 & -\sigma^2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_{t_R}^2 = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^2 & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma^2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad S_{t_R} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma^1 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$D_{t_R}^1 = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_2 & 0 \\ 0 & -\mathbb{1}_2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad D_{t_R}^2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma^3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.12)

The antisymmetric matrices  $A_{t_R}^{1,2}$  and the adjoint  $D_{t_R}^1$  are in the  $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{1})$ .  $(A_{t_R}^1$  is a full Sp(4) singlet proportional to the invariant tensor  $\epsilon_0$ .) The symmetric matrix  $S_{t_R}$  and the adjoint  $D_{t_R}^2$  are  $T_R^3 = 0$  components of  $(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{3})$ . The matrices for embedding  $t_L$  and  $b_L$  are

$$A_{t_L} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ A_{b_L} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ S_{t_L} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ S_{b_L} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.13)

and for the adjoint  $D_{t_L}^1 = S_{t_L}\epsilon_0$ ,  $D_{t_L}^2 = A_{t_L}\epsilon_0$ ,  $D_{b_L}^1 = S_{b_L}\epsilon_0$ ,  $D_{b_L}^2 = A_{b_L}\epsilon_0$ .

**II.** SU(5)/SO(5) coset. Similarly, for the real case, we need to consider spurions in the 1, 5, 10, 15, 24 of SU(5) where, again, the conjugate irreps give rise to the same spurions. With the same notation as in the previous case, we have, for  $t_R$ 

$$N_{t_R} = (1), \quad F_{t_R} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_{t_R} = \frac{i}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^2 & 0_{2 \times 2} \\ 0_{2 \times 2} & -\sigma^2 & 0_{4 \times 1} \\ 0_{1 \times 4} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$S_{t_R}^1 = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{5}} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_2 & 0_{2 \times 2} \\ 0_{2 \times 2} & \mathbb{1}_2 \\ 0_{1 \times 4} & -4 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad S_{t_R}^2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{5}} \mathbb{1}_5.$$
(A.14)

The matrices in the adjoint are given by  $D_{t_R}^1 = S_{t_R}^1$  and  $D_{t_R}^2 = A_{t_R}$ . As far as the spurions for the LH fields are concerned we use

$$F_{b_{L}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} i \\ 1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad F_{t_{L}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ i \\ -1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_{b_{L}} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ -1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_{t_{L}} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ -1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_{t_{L}} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ -1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad S_{b_{L}} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ -1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad S_{t_{L}} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ -1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad S_{t_{L}} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ -1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad S_{t_{L}} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ -1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (A.15)$$

with the matrices in the adjoint given by  $D_{t_L}^1 = S_{t_L}, D_{t_L}^2 = A_{t_L}, D_{b_L}^1 = S_{b_L}, D_{b_L}^2 = A_{b_L}$ .

III.  $SU(4)_l \times SU(4)_r/SU(4)_d$  coset. Lastly we consider the complex case. Here, in principle, we need to specify the irrep of both  $SU(4)_{l,r}$  but, again, the explicit matrices are independent on these details and we can lump, e.g.  $(1, 10), (1, \overline{10}), (10, 1), (\overline{10}, 1)$  into a *S* of SU(4). Having reduced the problem to a single SU(4) the spurions *N*, *A*, *S*, and *D* in the complex case are given by the same numerical expressions as in the pseudoreal case, (A.12) and (A.13), and need not be repeated. In addition, we must also consider the *B*ifundamental matrices *B*.  $(4, 4), (\overline{4}, \overline{4})$  are given by the same expression as the symmetric and the antisymmetric given in the pseudoreal case. Similarly,  $(4, \overline{4}), (\overline{4}, 4)$  are the same as the adjoint and an additional singlet only viable for the RH top  $(B_{t_R} = \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{1}_4)$ .

#### B The Lagrangian of the model in section 4

The interaction Lagrangian for the model presented in section 4 involving pNGB scalars in the custodial basis and the fermions in the gauge basis can be written as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{T}-\pi} = \overline{\mathcal{T}}_{L} \left[ -\mathcal{M}_{2/3} + \sum_{i} \pi_{i}^{0} \mathcal{I}_{\pi_{i}^{0}} \right] \mathcal{T}_{R} + \text{h.c.} + \sum_{j} \pi_{j}^{+} \left[ \overline{\mathcal{T}}_{L} \mathcal{I}_{\pi_{j}^{+}}^{1} \mathcal{B}_{R} + \overline{\mathcal{T}}_{R} \mathcal{I}_{\pi_{j}^{+}}^{2} \mathcal{B}_{L} \right] + \text{h.c.} + \sum_{j} \pi_{j}^{+} \left[ \overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{R} \hat{\mathcal{I}}_{\pi_{j}^{+}}^{1} \mathcal{T}_{L} + \overline{\mathcal{Y}}_{L} \hat{\mathcal{I}}_{\pi_{j}^{+}}^{2} \mathcal{T}_{R} \right] + \text{h.c.} + \sum_{i} \partial_{\mu} \pi_{i}^{0} \overline{\mathcal{T}} \gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{I}_{\partial \pi_{i}^{0}} \mathcal{T} + \sum_{j} \partial_{\mu} \pi_{j}^{+} \left[ \overline{\mathcal{T}} \gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{I}_{\partial \pi_{j}^{+}} \mathcal{B} + \overline{\mathcal{Y}} \gamma^{\mu} \hat{\mathcal{I}}_{\partial \pi_{j}^{+}} \mathcal{T} \right] + \text{h.c.}$$
(B.1)

where  $\pi_i^0 \equiv h, \chi_3^0, \chi_5^0, \chi_1^0, \eta$  and  $\pi_j^+ \equiv \chi_3^+, \chi_5^+$  and

$$\mathcal{T} \equiv \left(t, T_{\frac{2}{3}}, X_{\frac{2}{3}}, \tilde{T}_{\frac{2}{3}}, Y_{\frac{2}{3}}\right)^{T}, \quad \mathcal{B} \equiv \left(b, B_{-\frac{1}{3}}, Y_{-\frac{1}{3}}, \tilde{B}_{-\frac{1}{3}}\right)^{T}, \quad \mathcal{Y} \equiv \left(X_{\frac{5}{3}}, Y_{\frac{5}{3}}, \tilde{X}_{\frac{5}{3}}\right)^{T}.$$
(B.2)

In contrast to the section 4, in this appendix we denote the column vector containing all fermions with Q = 2/3 as  $\mathcal{T}$ . The interactions between the weak gauge bosons and the fermionic partners are similarly given by the following Lagrangian.

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{T}-W/Z} = \frac{e}{s_W c_W} \Big[ \overline{\mathcal{T}}_L \gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{I}_Z^L \mathcal{T}_L + \overline{\mathcal{T}}_R \gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{I}_Z^R \mathcal{T}_R \Big] Z_{\mu} + \frac{e}{s_W} \Big[ \overline{\mathcal{T}}_L \gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{I}_W^L \mathcal{B}_L + \overline{\mathcal{T}}_R \gamma^{\mu} \mathcal{I}_W^R \mathcal{B}_R \Big] W_{\mu}^+ + \text{h.c.}$$

$$+ \frac{e}{s_W} \Big[ \overline{\mathcal{Y}}_L \gamma^{\mu} \hat{\mathcal{I}}_W^L \mathcal{T}_L + \overline{\mathcal{Y}}_R \gamma^{\mu} \hat{\mathcal{I}}_W^R \mathcal{T}_R \Big] W_{\mu}^+ + \text{h.c.}$$
(B.3)

Note that both the Lagrangians above are obtained from eqs. (2.2), (2.8) and (2.13) together with the choice given in eq. (4.2). We only keep terms with one pNGB (or gauge boson) and at least one fermion with Q = 2/3 in eqs. (B.1) and (B.3). The mass matrix  $\mathcal{M}_{2/3}$  is given by

$$\mathcal{M}_{2/3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{y_L f}{2} s_\theta & \frac{y_L f}{2} s_\theta \\ 0 & M & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & M & 0 & 0 \\ -\frac{y_R f}{2} (c_\theta + 1) & 0 & 0 & M & 0 \\ -y_R f s_{\theta/2}^2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & M \end{pmatrix},$$
(B.4)

$\pi_i^0$	${\cal I}_{\pi^0_i}$	${\cal I}_{\partial \pi^0_i}$
h	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{y_L c_{\theta}}{2} & -\frac{y_L c_{\theta}}{2} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{i\kappa}{4f} & \frac{i\kappa}{4f} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{i\kappa}{4f} & \frac{i\kappa}{4f} \\ 0 & \frac{i\kappa}{4f} & \frac{i\kappa}{4f} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{i\kappa}{4f} & -\frac{i\kappa}{4f} & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$
$\chi^0_3$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & y_L s_{\theta/2}^2 & y_L c_{\theta/2}^2 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{y_R s_\theta}{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\frac{y_R s_\theta}{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{i\kappa}{2f} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{i\kappa}{2f} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 &$
$\chi^0_5$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{iy_L c_{\theta}}{\sqrt{3}} & \frac{iy_L c_{\theta}}{\sqrt{3}} & 0 & 0\\ \frac{iy_R s_{\theta}}{\sqrt{3}} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ \frac{iy_R s_{\theta}}{\sqrt{3}} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 &$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{\kappa}{2\sqrt{3}f} & -\frac{\kappa}{2\sqrt{3}f} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{\kappa}{2\sqrt{3}f} & -\frac{\kappa}{2\sqrt{3}f} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{3}f} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{3}f} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$
$\chi^0_1$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{iy_L(c_\theta - 3)}{2\sqrt{6}} & \frac{iy_L(c_\theta + 3)}{2\sqrt{6}} & 0 & 0\\ \frac{iy_Rs_\theta}{2\sqrt{6}} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ \frac{iy_Rs_\theta}{2\sqrt{6}} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 &$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{\kappa}{2\sqrt{6}f} & -\frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{6}f} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{6}f} & \frac{\kappa}{2\sqrt{6}f} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{6}f} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{6}f} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$
η	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & i\sqrt{\frac{5}{2}}y_Lc_{\theta/2}^2 & -i\sqrt{\frac{5}{2}}y_Ls_{\theta/2}^2 & 0 & 0\\ \frac{iy_R}{2}\sqrt{\frac{5}{2}}s_\theta & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ \frac{iy_R}{2}\sqrt{\frac{5}{2}}s_\theta & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 &$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{3\kappa}{2\sqrt{10}f} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{3\kappa}{2\sqrt{10}f} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{10}f} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{\kappa}{\sqrt{10}f} \end{pmatrix}$

**Table 6.** The expressions for the couplings to the neutral pNGBs,  $\mathcal{I}_{\pi_i^0}$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{\partial \pi_i^0}$  where  $\pi_i^0 \equiv h, \chi_3^0, \chi_5^0, \chi_1^0, \eta$ .

while the interaction matrices  $\mathcal{I}_{\pi_i^0}$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_{\partial \pi_i^0}$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_{\pi_j^+}^{1,2}$ ,  $\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{\pi_j^+}^{1,2}$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_{\partial \pi_j^+}$  and  $\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{\partial \pi_j^+}$  are given in the tables 6 and 7, respectively. The interaction matrices involving the weak gauge bosons  $\mathcal{I}_Z^{L,R}$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_W^{L,R}$ and  $\hat{\mathcal{I}}_W^{L,R}$  are given in table 8. The fermion mass basis are obtained through singular value decomposition of  $\mathcal{M}_{2/3}$  using biunitary rotations  $\mathcal{T}_{L,R} \to U_{L,R}\mathcal{T}_{L,R}$ . The expressions for the matrices  $U_{L,R}$  at the leading order in  $\theta$  are given by

$$U_{L} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{fMy_{L}\theta}{2(M^{2}+f^{2}y_{R}^{2})} & \frac{fy_{L}\theta}{2M} \\ \frac{fy_{L}\theta}{2M^{2}+2f^{2}y_{R}^{2}} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ \frac{fMy_{L}\theta}{2M^{2}+2f^{2}y_{R}^{2}} & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad U_{R} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{M}{\sqrt{M^{2}+f^{2}y_{R}^{2}}} & 0 & 0 & \frac{fy_{R}}{\sqrt{M^{2}+f^{2}y_{R}^{2}}} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ \frac{fy_{R}}{\sqrt{M^{2}+f^{2}y_{R}^{2}}} & 0 & 0 & -\frac{M}{\sqrt{M^{2}+f^{2}y_{R}^{2}}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(B.5)

$\pi_j^+$	${\cal I}^1_{\pi^+_j}$	${\cal I}^2_{\pi^+_j}$	$\mathcal{I}_{\partial \pi_j^+}$
$\chi_3^+$	$\left(\begin{array}{cccc} 0 & \frac{iy_L}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 &$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\frac{iy_L c_\theta}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{iy_L c_\theta}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{\kappa}{2\sqrt{2}f} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{\kappa}{2\sqrt{2}f} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{i\kappa}{2f} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{i\kappa}{2f} \end{pmatrix}$
$\chi_5^+$	$\left(\begin{array}{cccc} 0 & \frac{y_L c_\theta}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 &$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{y_Rs_\theta}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 \\ -\frac{y_Lc_\theta}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -\frac{y_Lc_\theta}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 &$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{i\kappa}{2\sqrt{2}f} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{i\kappa}{2\sqrt{2}f} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{\kappa}{2f} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{\kappa}{2f} \end{pmatrix}$
$\pi_j^+$	$\hat{\mathcal{I}}^1_{\pi^+_j}$	$\hat{\mathcal{I}}^2_{\pi^+_j}$	$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{\partial \pi_{j}^{+}}$
$\chi_3^+$	$\left(\begin{array}{cccc} -\frac{iy_L}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 &$	$\left(\begin{array}{rrrrr} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 &$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{\kappa}{2\sqrt{2}f} & \frac{\kappa}{2\sqrt{2}f} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{i\kappa}{2f} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{i\kappa}{2f} \end{pmatrix}$
$\chi_5^+$	$\left(\begin{array}{cccc} \frac{y_L c_\theta}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 &$	$ \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{y_Rs_\theta}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 &$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{i\kappa}{2\sqrt{2}f} & -\frac{i\kappa}{2\sqrt{2}f} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\kappa}{2f} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\kappa}{2f} \end{pmatrix}$

**Table 7.** The expressions for the couplings to the charged pNGBs,  $\mathcal{I}_{\pi_j^+}^{1,2}$ ,  $\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{\pi_j^+}^{1,2}$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_{\partial \pi_j^+}$  and  $\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{\partial \pi_j^+}$  where  $\pi_j^+ \equiv \chi_3^+, \chi_5^+$ .

	$\mathcal{I}_Z^L$	$\mathcal{I}^R_Z$
Ζ	$ \begin{pmatrix} \frac{3c_W^2 - s_W^2}{6} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{3c_\theta - 4s_W^2}{6} & 0 & -\frac{\kappa s_\theta}{8} & \frac{\kappa s_\theta}{8} \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{4s_W^2 + 3c_\theta}{6} & \frac{\kappa s_\theta}{8} & -\frac{\kappa s_\theta}{8} \\ 0 & -\frac{\kappa s_\theta}{8} & \frac{\kappa s_\theta}{8} & -\frac{2s_W}{3} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{\kappa s_\theta}{8} & -\frac{\kappa s_\theta}{8} & 0 & -\frac{2s_W^2}{3} \end{pmatrix} $	$ \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{2s_W^2}{3} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{3c_{\theta} - 4s_W^2}{6} & 0 & -\frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{8} & \frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{8} \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{4s_W^2 + 3c_{\theta}}{6} & \frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{8} & -\frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{8} \\ 0 & -\frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{8} & \frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{8} & -\frac{2s_W}{3} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{8} & -\frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{8} & 0 & -\frac{2s_W^2}{3} \end{pmatrix} $
	$\mathcal{I}^L_W$	$\mathcal{I}^R_W$
$W^+$	$ \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{c_{\theta}+1}{2\sqrt{2}} & 0 & \frac{i\kappa s_{\theta}}{4}\\ 0 & \frac{s_{\theta/2}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{i\kappa s_{\theta}}{4} & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{4\sqrt{2}} & 0 & \frac{i(c_{\theta}-1)}{2}\\ 0 & -\frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{4\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{i(c_{\theta}+1)}{2} & 0 \end{pmatrix} $	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{c_{\theta}+1}{2\sqrt{2}} & 0 & \frac{i\kappa s_{\theta}}{4} \\ 0 & \frac{s_{\theta/2}^2}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{i\kappa s_{\theta}}{4} & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{4\sqrt{2}} & 0 & \frac{i(c_{\theta}-1)}{2} \\ 0 & -\frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{4\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{i(c_{\theta}+1)}{2} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$
	$\hat{\mathcal{I}}^L_W$	$\hat{\mathcal{I}}^R_W$
$W^+$	$ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{s^2_{\theta/2}}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{c_{\theta}+1}{2\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{4\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{4\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & \frac{i\kappa s_{\theta}}{4} & 0 & 0 & -\frac{i(c_{\theta}+1)}{2} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{i\kappa s_{\theta}}{4} & \frac{i(c_{\theta}-1)}{2} & 0 \end{pmatrix} $	$ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{s_{\theta/2}^2}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{c_{\theta}+1}{2\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{4\sqrt{2}} & -\frac{\kappa s_{\theta}}{4\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & \frac{i\kappa s_{\theta}}{4} & 0 & 0 & -\frac{i(c_{\theta}+1)}{2} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{i\kappa s_{\theta}}{4} & \frac{i(c_{\theta}-1)}{2} & 0 \end{pmatrix} $

**Table 8.** The expressions for the couplings to the Z and W bosons,  $\mathcal{I}_Z^{L,R}$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_W^{L,R}$ , and  $\hat{\mathcal{I}}_W^{L,R}$ .

Similarly for  $\mathcal{B}$  the mass matrix  $\mathcal{M}_{-1/3}$  is given by

$$\mathcal{M}_{-1/3} = \begin{pmatrix} \mu_b \theta & 0 & -\frac{ify_L s_\theta}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{ify_L s_\theta}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & M & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & M & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & M \end{pmatrix},$$
(B.6)

while the biunitary rotation matrices, defined by  $\mathcal{B}_{L,R} \to \tilde{U}_{L,R} \mathcal{B}_{L,R}$ , are given at the  $\mathcal{O}(\theta)$  as

$$\tilde{U}_{L} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \frac{ify_{L}\theta}{\sqrt{2M}} - \frac{ify_{L}\theta}{\sqrt{2M}} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -\frac{ify_{L}\theta}{M} & 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{U}_{R} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(B.7)

#### C Branching ratios involving degenerate states

As mentioned in the section 4, in the presence of  $N_{\mathcal{T}}$  nearly degenerate top-partners the cross section for the process  $pp \to \mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B}$  shown in figure 4 can be factorized as

$$\sigma(pp \to \mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B}) \stackrel{\text{NWA}}{=} N_{\mathcal{T}}\sigma(pp \to \mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}})\mathcal{BR}_2(\mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B}), \quad (C.1)$$

where  $\sigma(pp \to \mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}})$  is the pair production cross section, which is the same for each partner, and  $\mathcal{BR}_2(\mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\overline{B})$  denotes the joint branching ratio of  $\mathcal{T} \to A$  and  $\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to \overline{B}$ . The full cross section (C.1) arises from squaring the amplitude in figure 4 and contains a term

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[\Delta(p_1^2)^{\dagger}\Gamma^A(p_1^2)\Delta(p_1^2)\Delta(p_2^2)\Gamma^{\bar{B}}(p_2^2)\Delta(p_2^2)^{\dagger}\right],\qquad(C.2)$$

where the trace is over the  $N_{\mathcal{T}}$  states and  $p_{1,2}$  are the momenta of the two fermionic partners to be integrated over. The  $\Delta s$  are defined in eq. (3.11) with a total matrix-valued width  $\Gamma_{\mathcal{T}} = \sum_{A} \Gamma^{A}(M_{\mathcal{T}}^{2}) \equiv \sum_{\bar{B}} \Gamma^{\bar{B}}(M_{\mathcal{T}}^{2})$ , where  $\Gamma^{A}(M_{\mathcal{T}}^{2})$  and  $\Gamma^{\bar{B}}(M_{\mathcal{T}}^{2})$  are the on-shell matrix-valued partial decay widths.

If it wasn't for the matrix-valued nature of the propagators and widths, one could further simplify eq. (C.2) by commuting the  $\Delta s$  and use the NWA to write the expression as the product of two ordinary branching ratios after integrating over  $p_1^2$  and  $p_2^2$ . Here instead we need to treat each of the two pieces under the trace, namely  $\Delta(p_1^2)^{\dagger}\Gamma^A(p_1^2)\Delta(p_1^2)$  and  $\Delta(p_2^2)\Gamma^{\bar{B}}(p_2^2)\Delta(p_2^2)^{\dagger}$  as matrix-valued distributions in  $p_1^2$  and  $p_2^2$  respectively.

Let us consider the  $p_1^2$  term for definiteness and define  $\mathcal{Z} = \Gamma_{\mathcal{T}} + 2i\delta M$ . One can show that in the limit  $\mathcal{Z} \sim 0$  where all components of  $\mathcal{Z}$  become small compared to  $M_{\mathcal{T}}$ 

$$\int dp_1^2 \,\Delta(p_1^2)^{\dagger} \Gamma^A(p_1^2) \Delta(p_1^2) \stackrel{\mathcal{Z} \sim 0}{\to} \frac{\pi}{M_{\mathcal{T}}} \sum_{n=1}^2 \left( c_n^+ \mathcal{O}_n^{A+} - i c_n^- \mathcal{O}_n^{A-} \right), \tag{C.3}$$

where the matrix operators  $\mathcal{O}_n^{A\pm}$  are given by

$$\mathcal{O}_{n}^{A\pm} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left( \mathcal{Z}^{\dagger - n} \Gamma^{A}(M_{\mathcal{T}}^{2}) \mathcal{Z}^{n-1} \pm \mathcal{Z}^{\dagger n-1} \Gamma^{A}(M_{\mathcal{T}}^{2}) \mathcal{Z}^{-n} \right), \tag{C.4}$$

and the coefficients  $c_n^{\pm}$  only depend on  $\mathcal{Z}$  and can be extracted by tracing the expression (C.3) over four linearly independent matrices, e.g.  $\mathbb{1}_2, \sigma^a$ .<sup>7</sup>

Applying the above result to our problem we can now write the joint branching ratio as

$$\mathcal{BR}_2(\mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}} \to A\bar{B}) = \frac{1}{N_{\mathcal{T}}} \operatorname{tr}\left( \left[ \sum_{n=1}^2 \left( c_n^+ \mathcal{O}_n^{A+} - ic_n^- \mathcal{O}_n^{A-} \right) \right] \cdot \left[ \sum_{m=1}^2 \left( c_m^+ \bar{\mathcal{O}}_m^{\bar{B}+} + ic_m^- \bar{\mathcal{O}}_m^{\bar{B}-} \right) \right] \right),$$
(C.5)

where the matrix operator  $\bar{\mathcal{O}}_m^{\bar{B}\pm}$  is defined similarly as

$$\bar{\mathcal{O}}_{m}^{\bar{B}\pm} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left( \mathcal{Z}^{-m} \Gamma^{\bar{B}}(M_{\mathcal{T}}^{2}) \mathcal{Z}^{\dagger m-1} \pm \mathcal{Z}^{m-1} \Gamma^{\bar{B}}(M_{\mathcal{T}}^{2}) \mathcal{Z}^{\dagger -m} \right) \,. \tag{C.6}$$

Note that in (C.5) we extract a factor  $1/N_{\mathcal{T}}$  to normalize  $\mathcal{BR}_2$  to one. Solving for  $c_n^{\pm}$  for our benchmark parameters in section 4, we find  $c_1^+ = 1.30$ ,  $c_2^+ = -0.296$ ,  $c_1^- = 0.192$ , and  $c_2^- = -0.072$ .

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

#### References

- D.B. Kaplan and H. Georgi, SU(2) × U(1) Breaking by Vacuum Misalignment, Phys. Lett. B 136 (1984) 183 [INSPIRE].
- [2] D.B. Kaplan, Flavor at SSC energies: A New mechanism for dynamically generated fermion masses, Nucl. Phys. B 365 (1991) 259 [INSPIRE].
- [3] N. Arkani-Hamed, A.G. Cohen, E. Katz and A.E. Nelson, The Littlest Higgs, JHEP 07 (2002) 034 [hep-ph/0206021] [INSPIRE].
- [4] R. Contino, Y. Nomura and A. Pomarol, *Higgs as a holographic pseudoGoldstone boson*, *Nucl. Phys. B* 671 (2003) 148 [hep-ph/0306259] [INSPIRE].
- [5] K. Agashe, R. Contino and A. Pomarol, *The Minimal composite Higgs model*, *Nucl. Phys. B* 719 (2005) 165 [hep-ph/0412089] [INSPIRE].
- [6] J. Barnard, T. Gherghetta and T.S. Ray, UV descriptions of composite Higgs models without elementary scalars, JHEP 02 (2014) 002 [arXiv:1311.6562] [INSPIRE].
- [7] G. Ferretti and D. Karateev, Fermionic UV completions of Composite Higgs models, JHEP 03 (2014) 077 [arXiv:1312.5330] [INSPIRE].
- [8] M. Golterman and Y. Shamir, Top quark induced effective potential in a composite Higgs model, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 094506 [arXiv:1502.00390] [INSPIRE].
- [9] G. Ferretti, UV Completions of Partial Compositeness: The Case for a SU(4) Gauge Group, JHEP 06 (2014) 142 [arXiv:1404.7137] [INSPIRE].
- [10] G. Ferretti, Gauge theories of Partial Compositeness: Scenarios for Run-II of the LHC, JHEP 06 (2016) 107 [arXiv:1604.06467] [INSPIRE].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>One can find closed expressions for these coefficients in terms of traces of powers of  $\mathcal{Z}$  and  $\mathcal{Z}^{\dagger}$ , but the expressions are rather unwieldy unless  $\mathcal{Z}$  is hermitian. We will present further details in a forthcoming publication.

- [11] A. Agugliaro, G. Cacciapaglia, A. Deandrea and S. De Curtis, Vacuum misalignment and pattern of scalar masses in the SU(5)/SO(5) composite Higgs model, JHEP 02 (2019) 089
   [arXiv:1808.10175] [INSPIRE].
- [12] G. Cacciapaglia and F. Sannino, Fundamental Composite (Goldstone) Higgs Dynamics, JHEP 04 (2014) 111 [arXiv:1402.0233] [INSPIRE].
- [13] A. Agugliaro, O. Antipin, D. Becciolini, S. De Curtis and M. Redi, UV complete composite Higgs models, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 035019 [arXiv:1609.07122] [INSPIRE].
- [14] J. Galloway, A.L. Kagan and A. Martin, A UV complete partially composite-PNGB Higgs, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 035038 [arXiv:1609.05883] [INSPIRE].
- [15] T. Ma and G. Cacciapaglia, Fundamental Composite 2HDM: SU(N) with 4 flavours, JHEP 03 (2016) 211 [arXiv:1508.07014] [INSPIRE].
- [16] M.E. Peskin, The Alignment of the Vacuum in Theories of Technicolor, Nucl. Phys. B 175 (1980) 197 [INSPIRE].
- [17] J. Preskill, Subgroup Alignment in Hypercolor Theories, Nucl. Phys. B 177 (1981) 21 [INSPIRE].
- [18] J. Mrazek, A. Pomarol, R. Rattazzi, M. Redi, J. Serra and A. Wulzer, *The Other Natural Two Higgs Doublet Model*, *Nucl. Phys. B* 853 (2011) 1 [arXiv:1105.5403] [INSPIRE].
- [19] R. Contino, L. Da Rold and A. Pomarol, Light custodians in natural composite Higgs models, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 055014 [hep-ph/0612048] [INSPIRE].
- [20] G. Panico and A. Wulzer, The Discrete Composite Higgs Model, JHEP 09 (2011) 135 [arXiv:1106.2719] [INSPIRE].
- [21] R. Contino, D. Marzocca, D. Pappadopulo and R. Rattazzi, On the effect of resonances in composite Higgs phenomenology, JHEP 10 (2011) 081 [arXiv:1109.1570] [INSPIRE].
- [22] A. Azatov and J. Galloway, Light Custodians and Higgs Physics in Composite Models, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 055013 [arXiv:1110.5646] [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. De Simone, O. Matsedonskyi, R. Rattazzi and A. Wulzer, A First Top Partner Hunter's Guide, JHEP 04 (2013) 004 [arXiv:1211.5663] [INSPIRE].
- [24] O. Matsedonskyi, G. Panico and A. Wulzer, Light Top Partners for a Light Composite Higgs, JHEP 01 (2013) 164 [arXiv:1204.6333] [INSPIRE].
- [25] D. Marzocca, M. Serone and J. Shu, General Composite Higgs Models, JHEP 08 (2012) 013 [arXiv:1205.0770] [INSPIRE].
- [26] A. Pomarol and F. Riva, The Composite Higgs and Light Resonance Connection, JHEP 08 (2012) 135 [arXiv:1205.6434] [INSPIRE].
- [27] G. Panico, M. Redi, A. Tesi and A. Wulzer, On the Tuning and the Mass of the Composite Higgs, JHEP 03 (2013) 051 [arXiv:1210.7114] [INSPIRE].
- [28] M. Carena, L. Da Rold and E. Pontón, Minimal Composite Higgs Models at the LHC, JHEP 06 (2014) 159 [arXiv:1402.2987] [INSPIRE].
- [29] M. Montull, F. Riva, E. Salvioni and R. Torre, Higgs Couplings in Composite Models, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 095006 [arXiv:1308.0559] [INSPIRE].
- [30] A. Carmona and F. Goertz, A naturally light Higgs without light Top Partners, JHEP 05 (2015) 002 [arXiv:1410.8555] [INSPIRE].

- [31] G. Panico and A. Wulzer, *The Composite Nambu-Goldstone Higgs*, vol. 913, Springer (2016)
   [DOI] [arXiv:1506.01961] [INSPIRE].
- [32] C. Niehoff, P. Stangl and D.M. Straub, Direct and indirect signals of natural composite Higgs models, JHEP 01 (2016) 119 [arXiv:1508.00569] [INSPIRE].
- [33] S. Kanemura, K. Kaneta, N. Machida, S. Odori and T. Shindou, Single and double production of the Higgs boson at hadron and lepton colliders in minimal composite Higgs models, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 015028 [arXiv:1603.05588] [INSPIRE].
- [34] M.B. Gavela, K. Kanshin, P.A.N. Machado and S. Saa, The linear-non-linear frontier for the Goldstone Higgs, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 690 [arXiv:1610.08083] [INSPIRE].
- [35] A. Banerjee, G. Bhattacharyya, N. Kumar and T.S. Ray, Constraining Composite Higgs Models using LHC data, JHEP 03 (2018) 062 [arXiv:1712.07494] [INSPIRE].
- [36] D. Liu, I. Low and C.E.M. Wagner, Modification of Higgs Couplings in Minimal Composite Models, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 035013 [arXiv:1703.07791] [INSPIRE].
- [37] B. Gripaios, A. Pomarol, F. Riva and J. Serra, *Beyond the Minimal Composite Higgs Model*, JHEP 04 (2009) 070 [arXiv:0902.1483] [INSPIRE].
- [38] M. Redi and A. Tesi, Implications of a Light Higgs in Composite Models, JHEP 10 (2012) 166 [arXiv:1205.0232] [INSPIRE].
- [39] J. Serra, Beyond the Minimal Top Partner Decay, JHEP **09** (2015) 176 [arXiv:1506.05110] [INSPIRE].
- [40] M. Low, A. Tesi and L.-T. Wang, A pseudoscalar decaying to photon pairs in the early LHC Run 2 data, JHEP 03 (2016) 108 [arXiv:1512.05328] [INSPIRE].
- [41] H. Cai, T. Flacke and M. Lespinasse, A composite scalar hint from di-boson resonances?, arXiv:1512.04508 [INSPIRE].
- [42] A. Arbey, G. Cacciapaglia, H. Cai, A. Deandrea, S. Le Corre and F. Sannino, Fundamental Composite Electroweak Dynamics: Status at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 015028
   [arXiv:1502.04718] [INSPIRE].
- [43] C. Niehoff, P. Stangl and D.M. Straub, Electroweak symmetry breaking and collider signatures in the next-to-minimal composite Higgs model, JHEP 04 (2017) 117 [arXiv:1611.09356]
   [INSPIRE].
- [44] M. Golterman and Y. Shamir, Effective potential in ultraviolet completions for composite Higgs models, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 095005 [arXiv:1707.06033] [INSPIRE].
- [45] T. Alanne, N. Bizot, G. Cacciapaglia and F. Sannino, Classification of NLO operators for composite Higgs models, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 075028 [arXiv:1801.05444] [INSPIRE].
- [46] D. Murnane, M.J. White and A.G. Williams, Exploring Fine-tuning of the Next-to-Minimal Composite Higgs Model, JHEP 04 (2019) 076 [arXiv:1810.08355] [INSPIRE].
- [47] L. Bian, Y. Wu and K.-P. Xie, Electroweak phase transition with composite Higgs models: calculability, gravitational waves and collider searches, JHEP 12 (2019) 028
   [arXiv:1909.02014] [INSPIRE].
- [48] S. De Curtis, L. Delle Rose and G. Panico, Composite Dynamics in the Early Universe, JHEP 12 (2019) 149 [arXiv:1909.07894] [INSPIRE].
- [49] M. Frigerio, A. Pomarol, F. Riva and A. Urbano, Composite Scalar Dark Matter, JHEP 07 (2012) 015 [arXiv:1204.2808] [INSPIRE].

- [50] D. Marzocca and A. Urbano, Composite Dark Matter and LHC Interplay, JHEP 07 (2014) 107 [arXiv:1404.7419] [INSPIRE].
- [51] N. Fonseca, R. Zukanovich Funchal, A. Lessa and L. Lopez-Honorez, Dark Matter Constraints on Composite Higgs Models, JHEP 06 (2015) 154 [arXiv:1501.05957] [INSPIRE].
- [52] M. Kim, S.J. Lee and A. Parolini, WIMP Dark Matter in Composite Higgs Models and the Dilaton Portal, arXiv:1602.05590 [INSPIRE].
- [53] J.R. Espinosa, B. Gripaios, T. Konstandin and F. Riva, Electroweak Baryogenesis in Non-minimal Composite Higgs Models, JCAP 01 (2012) 012 [arXiv:1110.2876] [INSPIRE].
- [54] A. Banerjee, G. Bhattacharyya and T.S. Ray, Improving Fine-tuning in Composite Higgs Models, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 035040 [arXiv:1703.08011] [INSPIRE].
- [55] R. Benbrik et al., Signatures of vector-like top partners decaying into new neutral scalar or pseudoscalar bosons, JHEP 05 (2020) 028 [arXiv:1907.05929] [INSPIRE].
- [56] D. Wang, L. Wu and M. Zhang, Hunting for top partner with a new signature at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 115017 [arXiv:2007.09722] [INSPIRE].
- [57] G. Cacciapaglia, H. Cai, A. Deandrea, T. Flacke, S.J. Lee and A. Parolini, Composite scalars at the LHC: the Higgs, the Sextet and the Octet, JHEP 11 (2015) 201 [arXiv:1507.02283] [INSPIRE].
- [58] A. Belyaev et al., Di-boson signatures as Standard Candles for Partial Compositeness, JHEP 01 (2017) 094 [Erratum ibid. 12 (2017) 088] [arXiv:1610.06591] [INSPIRE].
- [59] G. Cacciapaglia, T. Flacke, M. Kunkel and W. Porod, Phenomenology of unusual top partners in composite Higgs models, JHEP 02 (2022) 208 [arXiv:2112.00019] [INSPIRE].
- [60] A. Azatov, D. Chowdhury, D. Ghosh and T.S. Ray, Same sign di-lepton candles of the composite gluons, JHEP 08 (2015) 140 [arXiv:1505.01506] [INSPIRE].
- [61] D. Buarque Franzosi, G. Cacciapaglia, H. Cai, A. Deandrea and M. Frandsen, Vector and Axial-vector resonances in composite models of the Higgs boson, JHEP 11 (2016) 076 [arXiv:1605.01363] [INSPIRE].
- [62] J. Yepes and A. Zerwekh, Modelling top partner-vector resonance phenomenology, Nucl. Phys. B 941 (2019) 560 [arXiv:1806.06694] [INSPIRE].
- [63] S. Dasgupta, S.K. Rai and T.S. Ray, Impact of a colored vector resonance on the collider constraints for top-like top partner, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 115014 [arXiv:1912.13022]
   [INSPIRE].
- [64] A. Banerjee, S. Dasgupta and T.S. Ray, Probing composite Higgs boson substructure at the HL-LHC, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 095021 [arXiv:2105.01093] [INSPIRE].
- [65] G. Cacciapaglia, G. Ferretti, T. Flacke and H. Serôdio, Light scalars in composite Higgs models, Front. Phys. 7 (2019) 22 [arXiv:1902.06890] [INSPIRE].
- [66] D. Buarque Franzosi, G. Cacciapaglia, X. Cid Vidal, G. Ferretti, T. Flacke and C. Vázquez Sierra, *Exploring new possibilities to discover a light pseudo-scalar at LHCb*, *Eur. Phys. J. C* 82 (2022) 3 [arXiv:2106.12615] [INSPIRE].
- [67] N. Bizot, G. Cacciapaglia and T. Flacke, Common exotic decays of top partners, JHEP 06 (2018) 065 [arXiv:1803.00021] [INSPIRE].
- [68] G. Cacciapaglia, T. Flacke, M. Park and M. Zhang, Exotic decays of top partners: mind the search gap, Phys. Lett. B 798 (2019) 135015 [arXiv:1908.07524] [INSPIRE].

- [69] K.-P. Xie, G. Cacciapaglia and T. Flacke, Exotic decays of top partners with charge 5/3: bounds and opportunities, JHEP 10 (2019) 134 [arXiv:1907.05894] [INSPIRE].
- [70] O. Matsedonskyi, F. Riva and T. Vantalon, Composite Charge 8/3 Resonances at the LHC, JHEP 04 (2014) 059 [arXiv:1401.3740] [INSPIRE].
- [71] G. Corcella, A. Costantini, M. Ghezzi, L. Panizzi, G.M. Pruna and J. Šalko, Vector-like quarks decaying into singly and doubly charged bosons at LHC, JHEP 10 (2021) 108 [arXiv:2107.07426] [INSPIRE].
- [72] S. Dasgupta, R. Pramanick and T.S. Ray, Broad toplike vector quarks at LHC and HL-LHC, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 035032 [arXiv:2112.03742] [INSPIRE].
- [73] M. Chala, Direct bounds on heavy toplike quarks with standard and exotic decays, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 015028 [arXiv:1705.03013] [INSPIRE].
- [74] S.R. Coleman, J. Wess and B. Zumino, Structure of phenomenological Lagrangians. 1, Phys. Rev. 177 (1969) 2239 [INSPIRE].
- [75] C.G. Callan, Jr., S.R. Coleman, J. Wess and B. Zumino, Structure of phenomenological Lagrangians. 2, Phys. Rev. 177 (1969) 2247 [INSPIRE].
- [76] D. Liu, I. Low and Z. Yin, Universal Relations in Composite Higgs Models, JHEP 05 (2019) 170 [arXiv:1809.09126] [INSPIRE].
- [77] E. Witten, Global Aspects of Current Algebra, Nucl. Phys. B 223 (1983) 422 [INSPIRE].
- [78] O. Kaymakcalan, S. Rajeev and J. Schechter, Nonabelian Anomaly and Vector Meson Decays, Phys. Rev. D 30 (1984) 594 [INSPIRE].
- [79] K. Agashe, R. Contino, L. Da Rold and A. Pomarol, A Custodial symmetry for Zbb, Phys. Lett. B 641 (2006) 62 [hep-ph/0605341] [INSPIRE].
- [80] M. Knecht and J. Stern, Generalized chiral perturbation theory, hep-ph/9411253 [INSPIRE].
- [81] M. Knecht, B. Moussallam and J. Stern, The pi pi Amplitude in generalized chiral perturbation theory, hep-ph/9411259 [INSPIRE].
- [82] M. Knecht, Generalized chiral perturbation theory, Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 39BC (1995) 249 [INSPIRE].
- [83] M. Czakon and A. Mitov, Top++: A Program for the Calculation of the Top-Pair Cross-Section at Hadron Colliders, Comput. Phys. Commun. 185 (2014) 2930 [arXiv:1112.5675] [INSPIRE].
- [84] D. Buarque Franzosi and A. Tonero, *Top-quark Partial Compositeness beyond the effective field theory paradigm*, *JHEP* **04** (2020) 040 [arXiv:1908.06996] [INSPIRE].
- [85] G. Cacciapaglia, A. Deandrea and S. De Curtis, Nearby resonances beyond the Breit-Wigner approximation, Phys. Lett. B 682 (2009) 43 [arXiv:0906.3417] [INSPIRE].
- [86] D. Barducci, A. Belyaev, J. Blamey, S. Moretti, L. Panizzi and H. Prager, Towards model-independent approach to the analysis of interference effects in pair production of new heavy quarks, JHEP 07 (2014) 142 [arXiv:1311.3977] [INSPIRE].
- [87] A. Deandrea, T. Flacke, B. Fuks, L. Panizzi and H.-S. Shao, Single production of vector-like quarks: the effects of large width, interference and NLO corrections, JHEP 08 (2021) 107 [arXiv:2105.08745] [INSPIRE].